
Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee

Wednesday 29 March 2017 at 7.00 pm
Boardrooms 7&8 - Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, 
Wembley HA9 0FJ

Membership:

Members Substitute Members
Councillors: Councillors:
Ketan Sheth (Chair)
Kansagra (Vice-Chair)
Conneely
Hector
Hoda-Benn
Jones
Nerva
Shahzad

Dixon, Duffy, Moher, Pitruzzella and Stopp

Councillors:
Colwill and Davidson

Co-opted Members
Christine Cargill, Church of England Diocese schools
Alloysius Frederick, Roman Catholic Diocese schools
Iram Yaqub, Parent Governor Representative (Primary)
Dr Jeff Levison, Jewish Faith schools
Siddika Gulamhusein, Muslim Faith Schools

Observers
Lesley Gouldbourne, Brent Teachers' Association
Ms Sotira Michael, Brent Teachers' Association
Jean Roberts, Brent Teachers' Association
Dilan Dattani, Brent Youth Parliament
Jai Patel, Brent Youth Parliament
Shivani Trivedi, Brent Youth Parliament
Leesha Varsani, Brent Youth Parliament



For further information contact: Bryony Gibbs, Governance Officer
020 8937 1355 bryony.gibbs@brent.gov.uk

For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit:

www.brent.gov.uk/committees

The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting.



3

Agenda
Introductions, if appropriate.

Item Page

1 Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members 

2 Declarations of interests 

Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, any relevant 
disclosable pecuniary, personal or prejudicial interests in the items on this 
agenda.

3 Deputations (if any) 

4 Minutes of the previous meeting 1 - 10

5 Matters arising (if any) 

6 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) -  Update on 
Specialist provision and the implementation of the SEND Reforms 

11 - 30

The report provides an update on Brent’s progress in delivering the 
national programme of reforms as well as information about current 
specialist provision in the Borough.  

7 Annual School Standards and Achievement report 2015-2016 31 - 54

This report is being referred to the Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee as, at the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 27 February 
2016, it had been resolved that resolved that school standards and 
achievement would be scrutinised again after one year. 

This report meets Brent Council’s strategic priorities and policies, and 
affects the wellbeing of the Borough’s communities and residents 
because school standards are a corporate priority for Brent Council as set 
out in the Brent Borough Plan 2015-19.

8 Update on scrutiny work programme 2016-17 55 - 66

This report updates Members on the Committee’s Work Programme for 
2016/17 and captures scrutiny activity, which has taken place outside of 
its meetings.  



4

9 Any other urgent business 

Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to 
the Head of Executive and Member Services or his representative before 
the meeting in accordance with Standing Order 64.

10 Date of next meeting 

The next scheduled meeting of the Committee is on 9 May 2017.

Date of the next meeting: Tuesday 9 May 2017

 Please remember to SWITCH OFF your mobile phone during the meeting.
 The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 

members of the public.



MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Held on Wednesday 1 February 2017 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor Ketan Sheth (Chair), Councillor Kansagra (Vice-Chair) and 
Councillors Conneely, Hector, Hoda-Benn, Jones, Nerva and Shahzad, and Co-opted 
Members Ms Cargill, Dr Levison and appointed observer Mr Patel

Also Present: Councillors S Chaudhary, Harrison, Hirani and M Patel

Apologies were received from: appointed observers Brown, Gouldbourne, Michael, 
Roberts, Dattani, Trivedi and Varsani

1. Declarations of interests 

Councillor Conneely declared a personal interest in respect of Agenda Item 6 
(Scoping Paper for Child and Adolescent Mental Health services (CAMHS) Scrutiny 
Task Group) by virtue of the fact that she was a Mental Health and Liaison Officer 
at Brent Centre for Young People.  

2. Deputations (if any) 

There were no deputations received. 

3. Minutes of the previous meeting 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the previous meeting, held on 23 November 2016, 
be approved as an accurate record of the meeting. 

4. Matters arising (if any) 

There were no matters arising. 

5. Signs of Safety Scrutiny Task Group Report 

At the invitation of the Chair, Councillor Hoda-Benn, introduced the report on the 
implementation of Signs of Safety, which was a practice framework for working with 
children and families and child protection. She explained that the report had been 
produced a result of recommendations for scrutiny made by the Office for 
Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted) in 2015 to give 
more consideration to child safety and the implementation of Signs of Safety. Cllr 
Hoda-Benn highlighted that the task group had made four recommendations and 
that these were detailed in page 22 to the Agenda. She summarised that Signs of 
Safety was a good model for social work in Brent and expressed her gratitude to all 
officers involved, including front-line staff who had given up their time to support the 
work of the Task Group. 
 



2
Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 1 February 2017

The Chair invited Councillor Mili Patel (Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People) and Gail Tolley (the Council’s Strategic Director of Children and Young 
People) to comment on the report. Councillor Patel thanked the Task Group and the 
former Cabinet Member for Children and Young people for their work and stated 
that she would be able to provide annual updates to the Committee about the 
progress in implementing Signs of Safety. Ms Tolley acknowledged that the work 
completed by the Task Group had been extremely helpful and said that the 
recommendations had already been incorporated. She informed the Committee that 
Dr Andrew Turnell and Professor Eileen Munro (Child Protection Consultants) had 
received the report and had sent very positive feedback.  

In response to a Member’s question regarding resources that would be available if 
Brent’s application to receive funding during stage three of the Innovation 
Programme was successful, Ms Tolley explained that if the bid was successful, the 
Children and Young People Department would be enabled to access more funding 
for implementing Signs of Safety and build on the progress that had been achieved 
so far. In response to a Member’s question as to whether the Council could 
generate income from offering training to other bodies once the potential additional 
funding had been received. Ms Tolley responded that Signs of Safety was a 
branded product which meant that it was unlikely for Brent to be able to conduct 
training. Nevertheless, she pointed out that two of the Council’s practice leaders 
had been coached to deliver elements of the training but they firstly had to be 
validated for quality and it would not be possible for them to train outside of the 
organisation. In response to a Member’s question about the future of the model if 
funding was stopped, Ms Tolley assured the Committee the model would still be 
used, with existing progress being embedded to become business as usual. 
Moreover, Brian Grady (the Council’s Operational Director of Safeguarding, 
Performance and Strategy) said that collaboration would be encouraged, forming a 
strong partnership with the other nine local authorities to share learning. However, 
he estimated that there would be a negative effect on staff retention.  

In response to a Member’s question related to turnover and retention of officers, 
Councillor Hoda-Benn acknowledged that the retention of social workers had been 
a problem, but was confident that the Signs of Safety model had been well received 
and could encourage social workers to remain in their jobs. Ms Tolley added that 
the overall percentage of permanent social work staff had increased from 33% to 
66% in the period between 2014 and 2016, with 72% of front-line social work staff 
being employed on permanent contracts. She said that retention was linked to other 
underlying issues, such as the cost of housing, which were not affecting social 
workers exclusively. 

In response to a Member’s question in respect of collaborative working and best 
practice, Ms Tolley stated that Brent employees had visited Suffolk County Council 
and had received a visit by representatives of the London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets, both of which had allowed for helpful elements to be identified to be built 
up on.  
          
The Chair thanked the Members of the Task Group and Brent Council staff involved 
in the preparation of the report. 

Councillor Hoda-Benn left the meeting at 7:28 pm.



3
Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 1 February 2017

RESOLVED that:

(i) The contents of the Signs of Safety Scrutiny Task Group Report be noted;   

(ii) An engagement programme with partners such as schools, GPs and other 
health professionals to help raise awareness of Signs of Safety be 
developed;

(iii) The effectiveness of training in Signs of Safety be monitored, using existing 
workplace surveys to benchmark effectiveness and highlight any issues 
which may prevent the proper development of training;

(iv)On an annual basis, the Committee be updated by the Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young People about progress in implementing Signs of Safety, 
including social worker retention and other factors which may affect 
development practice; and

(v) Measurements be developed for assessing how effective Signs of Safety 
had been in the long-term in improving outcomes for children and young 
people and information about developing measurements for assessing the 
effectiveness of the model be shared with other local authorities who use 
Sings of Safety. 

6. Scoping paper for Child and Adolescent Mental Health services (CAMHS) 
Scrutiny Task Group 

Councillor Shahzad presented the report and emphasised that Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) were very important for Brent as one 
in ten school children in the Borough had experienced a mental health issue. He 
noted that a lot of change was needed in the area, which had to be implemented in 
accordance with the Local Transformation Plan which had been adopted across 
North London. He informed the Committee that the Task Group’s report had been 
agreed with the Brent Care Commissioning Group (CCG), the National Health 
Service (NHS) and the Leader of Brent Council. Councillor Shahzad reminded 
Members that as the issue had been examined in February 2016, it was time to 
revisit it. He explained that the scope of the Task Group had been detailed in 
paragraph 12 on page 47 to the Agenda Pack, where six key priorities had been 
listed. Councillor Shahzad summarised that the Task Group would evaluate the 
effectiveness of the existing model and how it could be adopted to better meet the 
needs of the local population.  

The Chair invited contributions from the Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People, the Director of Children and Young People and the Operational Director of 
Safeguarding, Performance and Strategy. Brian Grady (the Council’s Operational 
Director of Safeguarding, Performance and Strategy) welcomed the suggested 
focus areas as and said it was important to make a commitment to issues which 
were the subject of national conversation and debate.  

The Chair commented that the Task Group had been formed at a time when it had 
been necessary to examine how the existing arrangements had worked for Brent 
residents and said that he was looking forward to reading the report. 



4
Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 1 February 2017

Councillor Nerva entered the meeting at 7:34 pm.
Councillor Mili Patel left the meeting at 7:35 pm.

RESOLVED that:

(i) The contents of the Scoping Paper for the CAMHS Scrutiny Task Group be 
noted; and

(ii) Councillor Nerva and a named representative of the Brent Youth Parliament 
be added to the Task Group’s membership. 

7. Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2015-16 

The Chair welcomed Councillor Hirani (Cabinet Member for Community Wellbeing), 
Professor Michael Preston-Shoot (Independent Chair, Brent Safeguarding Adults’ 
Board (the Board)) and Phil Porter (the Council’s Strategic Director for Community 
Wellbeing) to the meeting. Professor Preston-Shoot introduced himself and talked 
about his experience in scrutiny and his engagement on the Board. 

Professor Preston-Shoot introduced the annual report of the Board and clarified that 
it had been prepared under the supervision of the previous Independent Chair as 
his term had started in September 2016. The Committee was informed that 
according to the Care Act 2014, Brent was required to set up a Safeguarding Adults 
Board. The Committee heard that the Board issued an Annual Business Plan and 
an Annual Report, with briefing sessions conducted to inform members of the Board 
about their responsibilities under the Care Act.       

Professor Preston-Shoot informed Members that the Annual Report had provided a 
summary of safeguarding activity which had been carried out by the Board’s 
partners across the social care, health and criminal justice sectors in Brent. He 
pointed out that the report had been divided into the following four sections:

 Prevalence of Abuse;
 Multi-agency response to safeguarding risks;
 The Board’s strategic priorities; and
 Learning from case reviews to improve practice.

The report set the profile of abuse faced by those in need of care and support and 
examined how well agencies, including the Council’s Safeguarding Adults Team, 
were meeting the needs of those who were at risk or experiencing abuse and 
neglect, with the information being benchmarked against national comparators. Last 
but not least, Professor Preston-Shoot highlighted that the Board’s work would be 
coordinated with the Safer Brent Partnership and the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board (LSCB) in terms of scrutiny and at Lead Members, Chairs and business 
manager levels.    

Councillor Hirani emphasised that safeguarding had been a priority within adult 
social care since 2012 when a poster campaign had been launched to raise 
awareness of the issue and which had led to an increased number of safeguarding 
concerns reported. He added that reporting in Brent was currently higher than in 
other areas of the country and noted that expanding the Board’s membership had 
been discussed to include the voluntary sector and social care providers.



5
Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 1 February 2017

Members of the Committee enquired about why some types of adult abuse had 
been more prevalent than others and how the Independent Chair’s assessment of 
compliance with the Care Act had changed since his appointment. In response to 
the first question, Professor Preston-Shoot said that awareness had to be raised 
around the issues of modern slavery and self-neglect as these categories so far 
had been underreported. He noted that, in some cases, self-neglect could be a life 
choice by mentally capable individuals, while modern slavery could be associated 
with the circumstances in which people had been employed on low-paid jobs which 
meant that closer cooperation with Trading Standards could be required to address 
the issue. Professor Preston-Shoot said that people found it difficult to ask 
questions which related to institutional abuse and that this applied to both victims 
and front-line staff working with vulnerable adults. In terms of compliance with the 
Care Act, Professor Preston-Shoot stated that, at the time of his appointment, the 
Council had been Care Act compliant as three statutory partners were members of 
the Board, it had prepared an annual report, sub-committees had been established, 
a business plan produced and terms of reference agreed, and Brent had 
considered what additional partners could be included. However, no Business 
Manager had been appointed, which limited detailed oversight and left tasks 
unfinished. Professor Preston-Shoot said that a potential inspection would have 
given the Board a ‘requires improvement’ status. Phil Porter added that the 
Safeguarding Adults Team had started working on the issue 18 months before the 
Act had come into force and that a number of services had been classified as ‘good’ 
with no services identified as ‘inadequate’.  

Members enquired about levels of commitment from statutory partners, the 
opportunities for local community and voluntary organisations to get involved in the 
work of the Board and the overall safeguarding performance across the partnership. 
Professor Preston-Shoot explained that positive operational and strategic 
discussions had been held in relation to opportunities for collaborative working 
between the Council, the police and partners and that work in relation to concerns 
associated with specific providers had been effective. However, he noted that no 
feedback had been given on concerns which could have deterred people from 
further engagement. He recommended that each referral had to get a detailed 
assessment to decide if a specific agency had to intervene, noting that multi-agency 
working could be challenging in complex case procedures.  In relation to 
involvement of third sector organisations, there was more to be done and therefore 
organisations of service users and organisations of carers had been engaged. It 
was noted that this process had been started at a Board Development Day, held in 
January 2017, and the Board Executive had planned to get involved with such 
groups. Conversations had been focused on how the LSCB and the Board could 
work more effectively to address issues such as transition. The overall levels of 
commitment of Board members had been high and an Executive had been set up to 
drive the work of the Board and oversee the work of the sub-groups. Engagement 
of the CCG had increased, with the recruitment of a designated nurse to the Board 
being a priority. Professor Preston-Shoot highlighted the lack of consistent 
attendance at meetings by Metropolitan Police representatives, noting that similar 
issues had been experienced by the London Borough of Lewisham. However, Mr 
Porter reminded the Committee that members of the Safeguarding Adult Team 
presided on the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub and that there was good 
cooperation between the Metropolitan Police and officers. He advised if Members 
had any concerns in this regard that these be sent to him.



6
Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 1 February 2017

In terms of safeguarding practice, the Committee asked how well the agencies had 
been meeting the needs of those experiencing abuse and neglect and enquired 
about learning points from case reviews and steps which could be taken to ‘make 
safeguarding personal’. Professor Preston-Shoot explained that Brent had done 
well in identifying the outcomes people had wanted and evaluating the degree to 
which these had been achieved. He acknowledged that, although the Board had 
received regular presentations by the Safeguarding Adult Manager, more could be 
done to ensure detailed scrutiny on the Board with papers presented by the CCG, 
the NHS and the Metropolitan Police being examined. He said that a key priority for 
2017/2018 would be to complete a dataset of people who had been identified as 
being at risk to be analysed in order to identify areas of concern. Mr Porter added 
that a major problem had been that issues had not been raised. Professor Preston-
Shoot explained that the Board had requested a review of cases in which adults 
had not been able to manage their finances securely. It found that the level of 
understanding of mental capacity was not as good as it had been expected, but this 
had been addressed and training had commenced. The review had identified a 
number of cases which had raised concerns about the level of care provided by 
residential care providers, including how people had been supported and looked 
after, which, in some cases, linked to level of knowledge, skills and expertise of 
staff. He emphasised that the need for a clear strategic and operational link 
between children and adult social care was essential (at both board and officer 
levels) and noted that, in some cases, mental capacity assessments had been 
inadequate and had to be reviewed as a priority. The Committee heard that the 
Board ‘makes safeguarding personal’ through appropriate training, supervision and 
audit of cases, which had been implemented to raise awareness of safeguarding 
among all parties and ensure that they continued to meet the required standards. 
He recognised that more work needed to be done in relation to training, supervision 
and conducting focused audits to demonstrate excellence where it existed. Mr 
Porter commented that the business processes of the Safeguarding Adult Team 
had been redesigned and embedded in Mosaic to ensure processes were being 
followed at all times
  
A Member of the Committee asked how Brent had performed in terms of concerns 
raised by the public compared to other boroughs. Professor Preston-Shoot said that 
10% of concerns in Brent were raised by the public, with some authorities achieving 
similar or better rates, while others achieved lower rates of concerns raised by the 
public. He expressed his confidence in the established process and praised the 
Team for its openness to challenge, good level of legal awareness and commitment 
to making safeguarding personal. In response to a Member’s question that related 
to the low levels of engagement from community and faith groups, Professor 
Preston-Shoot said that sub-groups had been working well and that he was 
surprised that there had not been higher levels of engagement with the third sector 
and faith groups given the make-up of the local community. He acknowledged that 
although it would be difficult to invite a large number of representatives to sit on the 
Board, the Board remained open to work with the third sector to raise awareness of 
self-neglect, modern slavery, abuse, and other issues. Professor Preston-Shoot 
said that it would be an effective strategy to train people in each organisation to 
become safeguarding champions. Training could be delivered alongside a children 
safeguarding session in order that community representatives would be aware what 
they would need to do when they were concerned for a member of the community. 
He stated that such a programme could be included in the 2017/2018 priorities of 



7
Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 1 February 2017

the Board. Such actions would likely make professionals more confident in 
activating Section 42 of the Care Act 2014 where they suspected an adult had met 
at risk and met clauses (a), (b) or (c) of the Section.

In the context of supported accommodation and potential lessons learned, the 
Committee enquired about the trend of reports of neglect or abuse from care homes 
which had fallen to 20%, and allegations of sexual abuse rising from seven to sixty-
five percent.  Professor Preston-Shoot explained that he and Mr Porter had been 
working with the Housing Teams to engage officers with the work of the Board and 
to ensure that they were aware of safeguarding. He added that processes would be 
audited and engagement would be extended as far as the Board’s resources would 
allow. However, given the context of austerity, Professor Preston-Shoot informed 
the Committee that he would make his priorities clear and alert the Council when 
there was an issue which related to funding that could not be resolved using the 
relationships he had already created with officers. He noted that issues with 
unregulated providers had been experienced by other local authorities such as the 
London Borough of Lewisham. Referring to the number of allegations of sexual 
abuse, Professor Preston-Shoot stated that abuse of adults in institutions had been 
very well hidden and that it was difficult to identify specific organisations to monitor. 
He explained that it could take considerable effort to raise an issue due to the time 
it could take until the victim, a relative or a carer disclosed an incident.  

A Member of the Committee commented that the number of modern slavery and 
self-neglect abuses had been disagreed with the classification of self-neglect as a 
life-style choice rather than a sign of mental health issue or dementia. Professor 
Preston-Shoot explained that self-neglect was not part of Adult Social Care despite 
the fact that some adult boards had monitored it prior to the introduction of the Care 
Act 2014. He noted that awareness had to be raised around the issue, but 
challenging adults capable of taking independent decisions, remained difficult. This 
led to a short discussion about the link between the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and 
the Care Act 2014. 

A Committee Member asked if the Council could request mandatory engagement 
from Brent’s Contractors and whether such an obligation could be added to 
potential new commissioning contracts. Professor Preston-Shoot confirmed that this 
had been possible as it provided clarity in terms of responsibilities. 

Members asked questions that related to the resources available to the Board and 
its position compared to other London safeguarding boards. Professor Preston-
Shoot informed the Committee that the Board anticipated to recruit a permanent 
Board Business Manager and that he had been liaising with the Council’s Head of 
Strategy and Partnerships to complete the process. If more resources had been 
provided, it would have been possible to recruit a Data Analyst, provide interagency 
training and explore to what degree Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) had been an 
issue in Brent, including potential actions that could have been taken against it. 
Another activity could have been organising a Safeguarding Week, along with the 
Children and Young People’s Department, to promote safeguarding and raise 
awareness. This was being reviewed with the Council’s Communications Team and 
could be included in the Brent Connects forums. Mr Porter explained that the CCG 
and the Council shared the budget for the Board, with the Metropolitan Police 
committing less resources than in other locations. Mr Porter went on to say that the 
current budget could cope with additional statutory work and that statutory 



8
Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 1 February 2017

requirements would be fulfilled, while individual business cases had to be made for 
additional expenditure or multiagency training. 

Members enquired about any measures which had been taken to reduce the risk of 
financial and material abuse through Direct Payments and Individual Budgets. 
Professor Preston-Shoot said that regular reviews had been carried out to ensure 
that Individual Budgets met the needs of users and Councillor Hirani informed the 
Committee that Direct Payments were being made by a card and regular reviews 
had been in place to prevent the misuse of funds.

The Chair expressed his gratitude to Professor Preston-Shoot for the 
comprehensive and educational report.  

Councillor Harrison left the meeting at 8:52 pm.
Ms Cargill left the meeting  at 8:53 pm.
Mr J Patel left the meeting at 9:05 pm.

RESOLVED that :

(i) The contents of the Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2015-2016, 
be noted; 

(ii) The proposed plans for engagement with local communities, be endorsed; 

(iii) Efforts to raise awareness of adult safeguarding among local communities, 
be endorsed; 

(iv) Specific information about Brent Safeguarding Adults Board’s interface with 
the Local Safeguarding Children Board and involvement with third sector 
organisations, be provided in the Board’s 2016-17 report;

(v) A report on participation by the Metropolitan Police and its attendance at 
relevant meetings of the Board, be presented to the Committee by the Brent 
Safeguarding Adults Board; and

(vi) Brent Council’s Contracts with housing and social care providers be 
designed to encourage engagement with Brent Safeguarding Adults Board 
and attendance by the Contractors at the Board’s relevant meetings. 

8. Update on scrutiny work programme (If any) 

RESOLVED that :

(i) The update on the Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Work Programme be 
noted; and

(ii) An update on the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) be presented 
to a meeting of the Committee in March or May 2017. 

9. Any other urgent business 

None.



9
Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee - 1 February 2017

10. Date of next meeting 

The committee noted that the next meeting was scheduled for 29 March 2017. 

The meeting closed at 9.10 pm

COUNCILLOR KETAN SHETH
Chair





1

Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee 

29 March 2017

Report from the Strategic Director 
of Children and Young People

For information
 

Wards affected: ALL

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) -  
Update on Specialist provision and the implementation of 
the SEND Reforms

1.0 Summary

1.1 The Children and Families Act came into effect on 1st September 2014. Part 3 
of the Act sets out major changes to the responsibilities of Local Authorities to 
identify children and young people in England with Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities (SEND), to assess their needs, and make provision for them. A 
new SEND Code of Practice was issued and later amended and finalised in 
2015.

The new legislation was the first major change to services for children and 
young people with SEND since 2001 when the previous code was published.

1.2 This report provides an update on Brent’s progress in delivering the national 
programme of reforms as well as information about current specialist provision 
in the Borough.  

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 Members of the Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee to discuss and 
comment on the contents of the report. 

3.0 Rationale

3.1 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) is a corporate priority for 
Brent Council as set out in the Brent Borough Plan 2015-19. The stated aims 
include:

 All children with statements of special educational needs to transition to 
Education, Health and Care Plans by September 2018



2

 Fewer pupils with special educational needs will require out of Borough 
placements

 Provide young people with the support they need to improve their lives.

The legislation and changes in the 2014 Act also affect a significant amount of 
children, young people and parents in the Borough.

4.0 Selection

4.1 A report on progress on the implementation of the SEND Reforms was last 
presented to Scrutiny Committee on 27 February 2016 where it was resolved 
that issues identified within the report be reported in more detail to future 
meetings of the appropriate scrutiny committee. The report also meets the 
criteria for scrutiny because it will be relevant to a large number of residents, 
and it addresses a corporate priority. 

5.0 Background

5.1 The main changes in the 2015 SEND Code of Practice are: 

 For children and young people with complex needs ages 0-25 to be 
transferred to the new assessment process by April 2018 and the 
Education, Health and Care Plans (EHC Plans) will replace statements 
of SEN and Learning Difficulty Assessments (LDAs). There is also an 
extension of the age range which was previously up to age 19.

 To assess the child’s needs and complete the EHC Plan within 20 weeks 
(reduced from the 26 weeks previously allowed to complete a statement) 
from the date of the request.

 A clearer focus on the participation of children and young people and 
parents in decision-making at individual and strategic levels. 

 A stronger focus on high aspirations and improving outcomes for 
children and young people. 

 A greater focus on support that enables those with SEND to succeed in 
their education and make a successful transition to adulthood. 

 Guidance on the joint planning and commissioning of services with close 
co-operation between education, health and social care to ensure 
services are in place to meet needs.

 The requirement to publish a ‘local offer’ of support for children and 
young people with SEND.

 New guidance for education and training settings on taking a graduated 
approach to identifying and supporting pupils and students with SEN (to 
replace School Action and School Action Plus) – this is called ‘SEN 
Support’.



3

6.0 Information and Data

6.1.1 Prevalence of Children and Young People with SEND in Brent

Nationally the overall number of pupils with special educational needs has 
reduced from 1,301,445 in 2015 to 1,228,785 in 2016. The reduction is due to 
a continuing decline in the number of pupils with special educational needs 
without a statement or EHC Plan. This decline is also reflected in Brent where 
there is a lower than average proportion of pupils on SEN support (those without 
EHC Plan). The prevalence of pupils at SEN Support stage is 9.9% (5,056 
pupils) which is below the National average (11.6%) and London average 
(11.7%) (DfE SFR release 2016). Schools have been required to review the 
children on the SEN support registers and as a result of better identification only 
children with SEND are now on the registers and having their needs correctly 
identified and met at early stages.

6.1.2 The key areas of highest special educational needs for children and young 
people at SEN support stage are Speech, Language and Communication 
Needs (SLCN) Moderate Learning Difficulties (MLD) Social Emotional and 
Mental Health Difficulties (SEMH) and Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD). 



4

6.1.3 Once an assessment has been completed and an EHC Plan issued the picture 
changes slightly as needs become more clearly understood through the 
assessment process. This is particularly evident in the increase in Autistic 
Spectrum Disorder (ASD).

Special Education Need Percentage
SLCN - Speech, Language & Communication 
Needs 25.60%

MLD - Moderate Learning Difficulty 22.70%
SEMH - Social, Emotional, & Mental Health  
(prev BESD) 10.60%

ASD - Autistic Spectrum Disorder 21.10%

SPLD - Specific Learning Difficulty 3.20%

OTH - Other Difficulty/Disability 0.90%

SLD - Severe Learning Difficulty 4.80%

NSA - No Specialist Assessment 3.70%

PD - Physical Disability 4.40%

HI - Hearing Impairment 3.20%

PMLD - Profound & Multiple Learning Difficulty 0.60%

VI - Visual Impairment 2.00%

MSI - Multi-Sensory Impairment 0.30%

Breakdown of School Pupils with Statement/EHC Plan by  
Primary Need - Aug 2016

25%

22%

10%

20%

3%
5%

4%
4%

Type of Primary Need - CYP 
Statement/EHC Plan

SLCN - Speech, Language &
Communication Needs

MLD - Moderate Learning
Difficulty

SEMH - Social, Emotional, &
Mental Health  (prev BESD)

ASD - Autistic Spectrum
Disorder

SPLD - Specific Learning
Difficulty

OTH - Other
Difficulty/Disability

SLD - Severe Learning
Difficulty

6.2 Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP)

6.2.1 The EHC Plan is a legal document that describes a child or young person's 
education, health and care needs and the support that is required to meet these. 

6.2.2 EHC Plans will cover eligible students up to the age of 25. However, guidance 
on the legislation makes it clear that this does not mean that students have an 
automatic entitlement to education up to the age of 25. Previously the 
Statement of SEN went up to age 19. 

6.2.3 As of 19th January 2017 (SEN2 DfE return – calendar year) there are now 1960 
children and young people with Statements of SEN and Education, Health and 
Care Plans in Brent. Of these, 1140 children and young people have an 
Education, Health and Care Plan and 820 children and young people have 
Statements of SEN. 

6.2.4 The number of children with EHC Plans in Brent is increasing, from 2.8% in 
2015 to 3.0% in 2016 (SFR release 2016 DfE - school age pupils that attend 
school in Brent). Nationally the percentage of children with EHC Plans is 2.8%

6.2.5 The table below details the number of new requests for Education Health and 
Care Needs Assessment received this year to date, with comparative data for 
the 2014, 2015, 2016 financial years. The data shows the significant increase 
in requests for EHC plans. 



5

2013/14 
(Apr to 
March)

2014/15 
(Apr to 
March)

2015/16 
(Apr to 
March)

2016/17 
(Apr to 
Feb)

Total New 
Requests Agreed

208 211 292 244

Total New 
Requests not 
Agreed

69 78 119 109

6.2.6 On average the Local Authority has agreed 71% of requests received during 
2016. Where requests are declined the Special Educational Needs Assessment 
Service will provide feedback as to the appropriate next steps that should be 
taken to meet the child or young person’s needs at SEN support and signpost 
to the Local Offer. 

6.2.7 All decisions are made in line with the Local Authority’s published criteria as 
detailed on the Local Offer. There are 3 panels for decision making in the EHC 
process:

 The multiagency SEN resource panel consists of representatives 
(School - Special Educational Needs Coordinator, health – speech and 
language therapy lead, SEND team leader, SEN Primary School 
Consultant, Principal Educational Psychologist). It ensures fair, 
transparent and consistent decision-making processes, in relation to 
requests for statutory assessments, which are consistent with the 
Council's policy and approach to resourcing special educational needs. 

 The Complex Needs Panel with representatives from the Inclusion 
Service (SEND Manager, Principal Educational Psychologist, SEND 
Specialist Services Manager). Health and Social Care attend for relevant 
cases. The panel makes outcome/cost effective decisions in terms of 
new special school placements, placement breakdown, and complex 
issues arising for those already with Statements of SEN/EHC Plan. 

 The Tripartite Panel (SEND Manager, Representatives from Brent 
Clinical Commissioning Group, Brent’s Children with Disability Service 
(0-13), Brent’s Transition Team) which makes outcome/cost effective 
decisions about joint education, health and care placements. 

6.2.8 The Local Authority is required to assess the child’s needs and produce the 
EHC Plan within 20 weeks. The previous timescale was reduced from the 26 
weeks allowed to complete a statement from the date of the request to 20 
weeks for an EHC Plan



6

6.2.9 The table below shows Brent’s performance in meeting the statutory timescales 
for completion of EHC Plans

Activity % (Cumulative total  2016/17 
Calendar  year to 19th January 2017)

EHC Plans (new assessments) 
completed within 20 week 
timescale including exception 
cases

86%
(240 out of 278 Plans)

EHC Plans (new assessments) 
completed within 20 week 
timescale excluding exception 
cases 

90%
(219 out of 243 Plans)

* Note: exceptions apply only if the child or young person is not available for example out of 
country or on holiday

6.2.10  As can be seen performance regarding timeliness in Brent has been good but 
improvement continues to be a priority. However, the new statutory process 
that involves greater co-production with families and schools is still being 
embedded. Late submission of advice from education, health and care 
providers is also a factor impacting on timescales. Nationally many LAs are 
facing similar challenges to meeting the 20 week timescales for completing 
EHC Plans. Data indicates that on average less than 60% of EHC Plans were 
finalised within time across England during 2015/16 and 70% of EHC Plans 
were finalised within time in London, therefore, in comparison, Brent is 
performing well. 

6.3 Conversion of Statements of SEN to Education Health and Care Plans

6.3.1 All Local Authorities were required to publish a Transition Plan setting out the 
timescales and numbers in each year group for conversion of Statements of 
SEN to Education Health and Care Plans by April 2018 and for LDAs by 
December 2016. In Brent good progress has been made in converting the 
existing Statements of SEN and LDAs (Learning Difficulty Assessments) for 
Children and Young people with SEND to Education Health and Care Plans 
(EHCP) by the government’s deadline of April 2018. 

6.3.2 In 2014 when the new legislation came in to force there were 1747 children and 
young people who are Brent residents and who have Statements of SEN and 
119 young people with high needs who had Learning Difficulty Assessments 
(LDAs).

6.3.3 The timescale set out by Government has been challenging and many Local 
Authorities are reporting significant concerns both about completion of the 
transfers by April 2018 and also about the new requirements to complete the 
assessments in 20 weeks. Whilst the multi-agency approach is essential in 
promoting the ethos of the SEND reforms, we need to recognise the challenges 
of the additional demands on schools and settings as well as health and social 
care services of converting existing statements to EHCPs alongside the 
ongoing work for new Education Health and Care Plan assessments



7

6.3.4 There has been additional grant funding from the Department for Education to 
support the implementation of the reforms. This additional funding has enabled 
the appointment of temporary Education, Health and Care Plan coordinators to 
undertake the conversions identified in the Brent Transition Plan. 

6.3.5 As of January 2017 there are 820 statements of SEN that remain to be 
converted to EHCPs. Of these 473 are planned to be completed by December 
2017, and the remaining 347 converted by 31st March 2018. Assuming the 
current level of additional staff is maintained, the service is confident that the 
deadline of March 2018 will be met.  The required conversion of Learning 
Difficulty Assessments was achieved by the deadline of December 2016.

6.4 Tribunals

Parents have the right to appeal to the SENDIST tribunal against the decisions 
the Local Authority makes in relation to:

 a decision not to carry out an EHC needs assessment
 a decision not to issue an EHC Plan
 the description of the child’s SEN, the special educational provision 

specified, the school or other institution specified in the Plan
 an amendment to these elements of the Plan
 a decision not to amend a Plan following a review or re-assessment
 a decision to cease to maintain an EHC Plan

The Local Authority and partners are working together to try to resolve disputes 
at earlier stages by working closely with parents/carers and schools and the co-
production of EHC Plans is contributing to building good relationships and 
resolving issues.

The number of tribunals in Brent has reduced in 2015/16 compared to the 
previous two years.

SEN Tribunals 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Appeal Not Upheld 2 3 2

Appeal Struck Out 4 4 1

Appeal Upheld 4 5 3

Appeal Withdrawn 2 3 6

New Evidence Received - 
Appeal Discontinued 17 24 10

Total 29 39 22
Source: Brent data from management information system



8

6.5 Involving Parents Carers and Children and Young people in the EHC 
assessment and planning process

6.5.1 The SEND reforms have at their heart a person-centred, holistic approach to 
working with children and young people with SEND and their families to ensure 
greater involvement of parents and children/young people in discussions and 
decisions about SEND support and provision. Early years providers, schools 
and colleges are expected to ensure that young people and parents are actively 
supported in contributing to the needs assessments, in expressing their views, 
wishes and feelings, in developing and reviewing EHC Plans and that they are 
fully involved in the decision making. 

6.5.2 A new template has been developed to capture the voice of the child/young 
person and their views/aspirations and those of their parents/carers. This was 
piloted in 3 schools (October 2016). Following feedback gathered from 
parents/carers and young people a final version is being produced for use in all 
schools and settings. A further project is underway with the clinical 
psychologists from CAMHS and the Village School to develop better ways of 
capturing the voice of the child/young person with very complex needs to give 
this cohort an opportunity for their voice to be heard.

6.5.3 Since 2014 the Statement of SEN has been replaced by an Education, Health 
and Care Plan (EHCP), for which a single, holistic multi agency assessment is 
undertaken, and which is coordinated by the SEN Casework Officer. If the 
assessment outcome is to issue an EHCP, a meeting with parents/carers is 
arranged to co-produce the plan with the allocated SEN case work officer. 
Schools have been helpful in supporting this process to encourage parents to 
attend and be involved. However the participation of parents/carers is not taken 
up in all cases. Promoting this aspect of the EHC Planning process remains a 
priority area for improvement in 2017.  

6.5.4 A pilot project is underway to align social care reviews for Looked After Children 
(LAC) or Children in Need (CIN) with annual reviews of EHC Plans to further 
improve co-production and to minimise the number of meetings for 
parents/carers and professionals to attend. As a result of this pilot, guidance 
will be developed and the arrangements rolled out further.  

6.6 Preparation for Adulthood

6.6.1 The reforms have put an emphasis on ensuring that children and young people 
have the information and skills they need to gain independence and prepare for 
adulthood. In the Code of Practice preparation for adulthood is defined as 
preparing for:

 higher education and /or employment

 independent living – young people having choice, control and freedom 
over their lives and the support they have including supported living

 participating in society including having friends and supportive 
relationships and participating in, and contributing to, the local 
community being as healthy as possible in adult life.



9

6.6.2 A stakeholder group was established to understand the transition to adulthood 
pathways for CYP ages 14-25 to identify specific requirements for the post 16 
progression routes across education health and care for Children and Young 
People up to age 25.

6.63 Work has been done on an evaluation of post 16 progression routes for young 
people with SEND aged 16-19 and 19-25 and their pathways. It was agreed 
that a transitions protocol should be developed and agreed by all stakeholders. 
The purpose of the protocol is to achieve a co-ordinated pathway and seamless 
transition for children and young people between education, children’s and 
adult health services and children and adult social care services. The seamless 
transition from children’s to adult services aims to ensure that joint planning is 
embedded early on and that all practitioners are clear about protocols and 
processes to achieve the outcomes of employment, community living and 
participation, health and wellbeing for children and young people with SEND.

6.6.4 The initial focus of the transition protocol is on post 16 pathways but a further 
stage of the protocol will take account of the other times when children and 
young people make a transition for example when moving from nursery to 
school or primary to secondary school. This is identified in the work programme 
for 2017.

6.6.5 Using the Project Search methodology, Brent has collaborated with the College 
of North West London, West London Alliance and the Charing Cross Hospital 
Imperial College NHS Trust to provide 12 supported internships to students age 
19-24 with SEND, to help give them skills to gain employment. This project is 
proving to be successful and the students are making good progress.

6.7 Joint Commissioning of Services

6.7.1 The SEND reforms place obligations on education, health and social care 
services to work together to plan services to meet children and young people’s 
needs at a strategic level (joint commissioning).

6.7.2 The Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) for children and young people 
shows population growth with a subsequent increase in children and young 
people with SEND and an increase in pupils in both Brent mainstream as well 
as special schools . This also places demands on other services and there is a 
need to ensure that additional demand for services is reflected in future 
commissioning cycles.  

6.7.3  A SEND Joint Commissioning Strategy action plan has been developed to take 
forward the joint commissioning requirements in Brent and this is monitored by 
the Inclusion Strategic Board and the Joint Commissioning Board which report 
to the Children’s Trust. The Children’s Trust is linked to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. The action plan incorporates the planned work between the 
Council and the Brent Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). It includes the 
commissioning of paediatric therapy services for occupational therapy, 
physiotherapy, speech and language therapy, school nursing and Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services CAMHS and this work is underway.



10

6.8 Brent’s Local Offer

6.8.1 The Local Offer provides a single point of information and advice for children 
and young people from 0 to 25 with special educational needs and disabilities 
(SEND) and their families. In Brent we are committed to ensuring that children 
and young people with SEND have the fullest possible range of services, 
support and opportunities to enable them to improve their life chances and 
realise their aspirations. The purpose of the Local Offer is so that parents, 
carers and young people can find out more easily about support and how to 
access it - all in one place.

6.8.2 Brent’s Local Offer was developed in partnership with parents, carers and 
children and young people. A working group was set up and workshops and 
consultations were held with Parent Carer Forums, children and young people, 
parents and SENCOs. They decided the categories and gave feedback about 
gaps in services

6.8.3 The site (www.brent.gov.uk/localoffer), which was launched on 1 September 
2014, is reviewed and monitored regularly and reported to the Inclusion 
Strategic Board.

6.8.4 Since 2014 Information about key areas of SEND has been developed and 
enhanced including: getting a diagnosis (for example Autistic Spectrum 
Disorder (ASD) and post diagnosis support, SEND in schools (role of the 
SENCO, SEN Support, specialist support services) Content is continually 
reviewed and updated across all Local Offer category areas - this has been 
particularly important in the case of health (one of the most popular categories) 
because providers have changed. More than 80 additional services have been 
added to the site since it was launched, including Council, health, independent 
and voluntary sector services.

6.8.5 A new online form has also been added to the site. This allows people to update 
information about their service, in addition to adding new provision and giving 
feedback.

6.8.6 A Local Offer video (www.brent.gov.uk/localoffer), was produced for 
parent/carers and children and young people to make it more accessible 

6.8.7 Recognising the need to reach as many parents as possible and as early as 
possible, a Local Offer leaflet has been created which is included with every 
request for an EHC Plan, refusal to assess as well all transfer reviews to 
signpost parents to the Local Offer. The leaflet has been sent to schools and 
settings to distribute to parents of children on SEN support and is in libraries 
and GP surgeries and given to paediatricians and health visitors and other 
services who are in early contact with parents of children with SEND.

6.8.8 Future enhancements to the Local Offer are planned and a further consultation 
with parents took place on 15th March 2017 at the SEND parent participation 
Forum. Additional feedback was obtained about the site, about any gaps in 
provision and gave consideration about how the Local Offer might evolve in the 
future.

http://www.brent.gov.uk/localoffer
http://www.brent.gov.uk/localoffer


11

6.8.9 The Local Offer website is regularly monitored and the data below shows the 
number of page views on the site between June and November 2016 the site 
had:

 13,580 page views

 Average of 670.5 users a month 

 Average of 2263 page views a month

6.8.10 The most viewed category pages were education (506 page views), leisure 
(269 page views) and help and advice (355 page views). The most looked at 
individual pages were access to social care, Brent Citizen’s Advice Bureau, 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and Health Visiting 
Service.

6.9 The Graduated Approach and SEN Support in schools

6.9.1 All schools and settings follow the Assess, Plan, Do and Review model with a 
graduated approach to identifying and assessing needs for children and young 
people requiring additional support. Where appropriate and with parental 
agreement and involvement, the child will be placed on SEN support and a 
range of interventions put in place and reviewed with support from specialist 
services is accessed as appropriate. Special Educational Needs Coordinators 
(SENCOs) in schools and settings have received training and guidance on the 
identification of SEN as well as tools for assessment. SENCOs meet regularly 
for updated training.

6.9.2 All maintained schools and maintained nursery schools and academies must 
publish information on their websites about their policy for pupils with SEND. 
This is called the SEND Information Report and it must be updated annually. 
The Local Authority has provided training and guidance to enable schools to 
publish this report and to make links to the Local Offer.

6.9.2 The Local Authority also provides outreach services for schools and settings for 
those children and young people that are identified as requiring SEN Support. 
The type of support is detailed below 

 The Inclusion Support Team – Support for children and young people 
with Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH).

 Brent Outreach Autism Team (BOAT)
 Services for Children and Young People with Visual or Hearing 

Impairment
 Brent Access to Inclusive Technology Service (specialist equipment for 

children with high level and low incidence needs)
 Educational Psychology Service 
 Early Years Inclusion Team providing support to Early Years settings
 The SEN advisory service providing support for school SENCOs (special 

education needs coordinators) and advice on dyslexia and complex 
needs.



12

6.9.3 The Local Authority supports schools with training to ensure that they are able 
to meet their statutory responsibilities to meet the needs of children with SEND. 
Bespoke training is available for staff in schools when children with specific 
needs are admitted. The Brent Schools Partnership, in collaboration with the 
Manor School, The Village School and Woodfield Teaching School Alliance 
produces a comprehensive training offer for schools. This includes developing 
SEND leadership and provision, assessment of SEND and supporting schools 
to achieve outstanding provision. School SENCOs meet regularly to collaborate 
and share good practice.

6.10 Brent Parent/Carer Forum

6.10.1 There have been some difficulties in sustaining the Parent/Carer Forum in 
Brent. The Forum is an important group through which the views of parents and 
carers of children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) are 
fed back. ‘Contact a Family’, the organisation that has been given the 
responsibility by the Department of Education to support local authorities in 
setting up SEND Parent Carer Forums, has identified a different approach that 
is successfully used by other local authorities and this has now been agreed for 
Brent. 

6.10.2 The Westminster Society is now facilitating the Brent Parent/Carer Forum. Like 
before, this is an independent group run by parents/carers for families of 
children and young people with SEND. The Westminster Society’s role is to 
manage all of the administration that has previously been a burden. The 
Westminster Society’s involvement now allows more time for parents of the 
group to participate in the design and development of SEND services in 
partnership with the local authority. 

6.10.3 The Westminster Society is currently promoting the Forum, recruiting new and 
existing members and appointing parents to various roles. Representatives 
from the group are members of the Inclusion Strategic Board and other 
meetings. 

6.10.4 Five key priorities have been identified for parents’ participation and 
consultation for 2017: 

 SEND Inspection – Identifying parents who would be involved in 
preparation for the forthcoming Inspection of SEND.

 Review of the Local offer – to obtain additional feedback about the site, 
identify any gaps in provision and consider how the Local Offer might 
evolve in the future.

 Short Breaks Review – Consultation on the Short Breaks strategy and 
provision. 

 Transition Protocol – Consultation on the development of the Transition 
protocol.

 Transport Policy – Consultation on the review of the Transport policy.

7.0 Governance

7.1 The implementation of the SEND reforms is monitored by the Inclusion 
Strategic Board which meets every 2 months. Implementation of the new SEND 
code of practice across education, social care and health provision requires a 



13

transformational approach with input and engagement from services across the 
Council and as well as external partners and stakeholders. The Board is chaired 
by the Operational Director - Integration & Improved Outcomes to ensure senior 
level oversight. The Board is made up of representatives of Education, Social 
Care, Health, special and mainstream schools, Parent/Carer representatives 
and the Voluntary sector. The Board reports to the Children’s Trust.

The Inclusion Strategic Board also has a wider remit to provide strategic 
direction for the work to be undertaken to meet the requirements of the Children 
and Families Act 2014 in relation to Special Education Needs and Disability 
(SEND) as well as the implementation of any legislation and guidance in relation 
to Inclusion. 

7.2 There is a work programme that is identified by the Board around the strategic 
areas of work that need to be addressed to implement and embed the SEND 
Reforms which are now in its third year of implementation. The Board identifies 
actions to be undertaken. 

7.3 The key areas of the Inclusion Strategic Board’s work programme in 2017 are 
as follows:

 Developing and agreeing the Transition Protocol
 Aligning SEND Annual Reviews and LA reviews for Children with SEND 

who are also LAC
 Joint commissioning of paediatric therapy services
 Overview of strategic planning for special provision
 Updating the SEND and Inclusion strategies

8.0 Specialist provision in Brent

8.1 Most children and young people with SEND can have their needs met in a 
mainstream setting but the demand for specialist places is increasing. In 2017 
(Jan SEN2 return) 48% of children and young people with EHC plans attend a 
mainstream provision and 52% of children and young people with EHC plans 
attend a specialist provision. 

The table below shows the increase in children and young people with 
Statements of SEN/EHC Plans and the type of school they attend over the last 
3 years from 2015-17.The data excludes the number of young people attending 
further education.

Total No 
CYP with 

Statements
/EHC Plan

Mainstream Special

Total No 
CYP with 

Statements
/EHC Plan

Mainstream Special

Total No 
CYP with 

Statement
s

/EHC Plan

Mainstream Special

1653 819 834 1772 871 901 1824 873 951
50% 50% 49% 51% 48% 52%

2015 2016 2017



14

8.2 Since 2012 all four Brent special schools have expanded and this has resulted 
in 104 additional special school places.

8.3 The four Special Schools in the Borough now cater for a wide range of complex 
SEND (see table below). Even with this expansion there is still a demand for 
specialist provision and Brent is reliant on sourcing places in out of Borough 
maintained Special Schools or Independent schools. Currently a total of 259 
pupils are placed in schools out of Borough mainly for Autistic Spectrum 
Disorder (ASD) or Social Emotional and Mental Health Needs (SEMH).

School Type of School
Special
Need

Actual number 
of pupils in 

Brent Special 
and ARPs 

January 2017
Number of 

Planned Places 
Manor School Special MLD/ASD 172 170
Phoenix Arch 
School Special ASD/SEMH 47 48
The Village School

Special
PMLD/SLD/

ASD 277 270
Woodfield School Special MLD/ASD 156 165
Alperton 
Community School ARP MLD 13 16
Kingsbury Green 
Primary School ARP HI 17 16
Kingsbury High 
School ARP HI 6 7
Oakington Manor 
Primary School ARP ASD 15 15
Oakington Manor 
Primary School ARP SLCN 18 18
Preston Manor 
School ARP ASD 12 12
Preston Manor 
School ARP SLCN 12 12
Grand Total  754 756

Note: ARP - Additionally Resourced Provision,
 MLD – Moderate learning difficulties, 
HI – Hearing Impairment, ASD – Autistic Spectrum Disorder, 
SLCN – Speech and Language Communication Needs,
SEMH – Social, Emotional Mental Health,
SLD – Severe learning difficulties
PMLD - Profound and Multiple learning difficulties

By September 2017 – All places will be taken up 

8.4 The Council is continuing to implement its school place planning strategy 
approved in November 2015 to develop provision locally within the Borough 
and a new Special Free School is planned for 2018 to alleviate some of the 
need to place pupils with severe learning difficulties and ASD out of Borough. 
Officers are also exploring whether more provision can be provided through 
Additionally Resourced Provision (ARP) in mainstream schools to meet the 
particular needs of pupils with ASD and Moderate Learning Difficulties (MLD). 
This would go some way to relieving pressure on places in special schools. It 



15

will help meet the demand but there is still pressure to meet the ongoing 
demand for special school places in the Brent for those with Autism and Social 
Emotional and Mental Health needs.  Brent does not have specialist provision 
for those with Social Emotional and Mental Health needs and some of these 
children are placed in independent or out of borough maintained school 
placements. 

8.5 The priority is to develop provision locally. In order to meet the needs of 
Children with SEMH planning is underway to make provision for primary age 
pupils who either have been excluded and have long term complex needs or 
are at risk of being excluded. The Local Authority is also working with the Brent 
Schools Partnership and two primary schools to deliver preventative 
programmes commissioned by schools for KS1 and KS2 children at risk of 
exclusion.

9.  Care Quality Commission (CQC) and Ofsted Local Area SEND inspection

9.1 In 2016 Ofsted and the CQC began SEND inspections of all local areas over a 
five-year period. Judgements are made about the performance of the local area 
since the implementation of the reforms in September 2014 and there is a 
narrative evaluative report following the inspection. There is no overall 
effectiveness grade. 

9.2 When selecting local areas for inspection in a given year, Ofsted will ensure 
that there is a spread across the country and will, wherever possible, take 
account of the timing of any other Ofsted or CQC inspection activity. There will 
be a risk assessment element to the selection where Ofsted or CQC have 
significant concerns about an area’s ability to fulfil its responsibilities, for 
example weaknesses found in the area’s education inspections. 

9.3 The inspection teams will usually consist of one of Her Majesty’s Inspectors 
(HMI) from Ofsted, a Children’s Services Inspector from CQC, and a trained 
inspector from a local authority (not from the local area being inspected). The 
local authority inspector will have specialist knowledge of disability and special 
educational needs and have a health, social care or education background. 

9.4 The proposed focus of the inspection will be: 

 How effectively does the local area identify children and young people who 
have special educational needs and /or disabilities? 

 How effectively does the local area assess and meet the needs of children 
and young people who have special educational needs and/or disabilities?

 How effectively does the local area improve the outcomes of children and 
young people who have special educational needs and/or disabilities? 

9.5 The inspection team will:

 Meet key managers and leaders from the local area’s education, 
health and social care services 



16

 Visit a number of early years settings, schools and further education 
providers. 

 Visit health settings, where inspectors will discuss with managers and 
practitioners how the local area fulfils its responsibilities and how they 
contribute to this. 

 Review files and information about how practitioners from health, 
education and care and other services contribute to assessments and 
Education, Health and Care plans. 

 Meet children and young people, and parents and carers to get their 
views of how effectively the area fulfils its responsibilities. 

9.6  The Local Authority, with partners, is preparing for the inspection through 
undertaking a self-assessment with contributions from all key partners. This has 
led to the identification of priorities for action in 2017 and areas for further 
development. There have been briefings and communication with all key 
stakeholders including parents/carers. 5 days notice for the inspection will be 
given. 

The following areas and local authorities have been inspected so far and reports 
published:

Area in England Local Authority
Outer London and Inner London Bexley 

Hillingdon 
Hertfordshire 
Enfield 

East and West  Midlands Nottinghamshire 
Derbyshire 
Stoke 
Herefordshire 

North East, North West and Yorkshire 
and Humber

Hartlepool 
Bolton 
Leeds 
North Yorkshire
Rochdale
Sefton 

South East, South West  and East of 
England

Hertfordshire 
Suffolk 
Brighton and Hove 
Surrey 
East Sussex 
Gloucestershire 
Plymouth 

10.0  Outcomes and Priority actions for 2017/18 

10.1 The SEND reforms and the changes have been welcomed in terms of the 
benefits of a co-ordinated assessment and planning together across agencies, 



17

co-production with parents, carers and children and young people through a 
person centred approach, the greater focus on outcomes and preparing for 
adulthood and the establishment of the Local Offer. There is a strong 
commitment from all partners in the Children’s Trust and schools and settings 
to deliver a high quality SEND offer in Brent. However, it needs to be recognised 
that there have also been challenges that are ongoing including:

 Extending the age range from to 0-25 years
 Population growth and the increased demand for assessment and  

EHC Plans and the impact on services within limited resources
 The demand for specialist provision 
 Changes in ways of working and training needs of staff across 

agencies
 Joint Commissioning of services 

10.2 In terms of standards and achievement the performance measures for schools 
and colleges were changed in 2014, so it is not possible to make comparisons 
with previous years. More information can be found in the School Annual 
Standards and Achievement Report 2015/16 to this committee.

In 2016 at Key stage 2 pupils with SEND attaining the expected standard in 
reading, writing and mathematics was 26% which is above the national average 
of 16% but remains below the Brent and national average for all pupils.

At Key Stage 4 in 2016 the Brent average Attainment 8 score for pupils with 
SEND was 2 points below the national average for pupils with SEND and well 
below the average for all pupils. However, for the Progress 8 measure Brent 
pupils made more progress at secondary schools than pupils with SEND 
nationally but less progress than the average for all pupils.

In 2015 at Key stage 4, 90% of pupils on SEN support were in education 
employment or training which is well above the national and London averages. 
For pupils with an EHC Plan 85% were in education, employment or training 
and this is lower than national at 91%.

All of Brent’s special schools have been judged good or outstanding. 

10.3 Next steps -the following are the priority actions in the SEND strategy for 
2017/18

 Continue to embed the reforms and new ways of working through 
refresher training for all agencies and partners involved in the EHC 
Assessment and Planning process

 Deliver the conversions of statements to EHC Plans by March 2018
 Aim to achieve 100% of EHC Plans within 20 weeks
 Complete the Joint Commissioning of Paediatric Therapy services by 

2018
 Further develop the co-production of EHC Plans with parents and 

children and young people ensuring the voice of the child/young person 
is embedded in practice



18

 Support strengthening of the Parent/Carer Forum to enable the 
effective participation of parent and carers in the decision making at 
both an individual and a strategic level

 Continue to work with schools and partners on the development of local 
specialist provision ( Special schools and Additionally Resourced 
Provision- ARPs in mainstream schools) to meet the growing needs in 
the Borough with a focus on support for pupils with Autistic Spectrum 
Disorder and those with Social Emotional and Mental Health 
Difficulties.

 Support schools and settings to embed good practice on raising the 
attainment of children and young people with SEND and build capacity 
and skills in mainstream schools to support the inclusion of children 
with SEND

 Continue work to align the reviews of children who are LAC or CIN with 
the annual review of EHC Plans

 Develop and implement a Multiagency Transition Protocol
 Updating the Strategy for Children and Young Peoples with Special 

Educational Needs and Disabilities 

11.0 Financial Implications

11.1 The High Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant funds SEN places and 
provision in Brent, and out of borough provision, in addition to funding some 
Council SEN services. The total High Needs Block for 2017/18 is £53 million.

11.2 The recent funding consultation on High Needs funding included proposals 
which would mean that Brent would not receive any growth in the medium term 
from 2018/19 onwards. This therefore means that increases in demand will 
have to be met from existing resources, and compensating efficiencies found.  
For example by increasing provision in-borough to achieve savings by reducing 
the number of higher cost out of borough SEN placements.

11.3 This also means that like mainstream schools, special schools are unlikely to 
receive increased funding despite experiencing costs pressures, which the 
NAO estimate will total 8% of current budgets by 2020.

12.0 Legal Implications

12.1 Education Law legal implications: The requirement that all children with 
statements be placed on EHCs by 1 April 2018 is set out in The Children and 
Families Act 2014 (Transitional and  Saving Provisions) No. 2 Order 2014.

12.2 It provides that the old law ceases to apply from the beginning of 1st April 
2018. If there are any children that have not been transitioned to a EHC Plan 
by that date, the legislation explains that the new law does not prevent the 
statement maintained for the child or young person from continuing to have 
effect from 1 April; but means from it has effect as if the special educational 
provision specified in it were specified in an EHC plan maintained for the child. 
The local authority that maintains the statement for the child or young person 
must therefore secure that an EHC needs assessment for him or her is carried 
out and concluded as soon as is reasonably practicable after that date.



19

12.3 What this will all mean in practice remains to be seen. However any local 
authority which has not put in place EHC plans by 1 April 2018 and does not do 
soon afterwards, will be at risk of being Judicially Reviewed. 

12.4 Adult social care legal implications: Local authorities must carry out a 
transition assessment when there is significant benefit to the young person (or 
carer) in doing so, and if they are likely to have needs for care or support after 
turning 18. The provisions in the Care Act 2014 relating to transition to adult 
care and support are not only for those who are already receiving children’s 
services, but for anyone who is likely to have needs for adult care and support 
after turning 18.

12.5 That a young person or carer is ‘likely to have needs’ means they have any 
likely appearance of any need for care and support as an adult – not just those 
needs that will be deemed eligible under the adult statute. It is highly likely that 
young people and carers who are in receipt of children’s services would be 
‘likely to have needs’ in this context, and local authorities should therefore carry 
out a transition assessment for those who are receiving children’s services as 
they approach adulthood, so that they have information about what to expect 
when they become an adult.

12.6 For young people with special educational needs (SEN) who have an 
Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan under the Children and Families Act, 
preparation for adulthood must begin from year 9 - see Special Educational 
needs & Disability (SEND) Code of Practice ‘Preparing for Adulthood’ . The 
transition assessment should be undertaken as part of one of the annual 
statutory reviews of the EHC plan, and should inform a plan for the transition 
from children’s to adult care and support.

12.7 Equally for those without EHC plans, early conversations with local authorities 
about preparation for adulthood are beneficial – when these conversations 
begin to take place will depend on individual circumstances. For care leavers, 
local authorities should consider using the statutory Pathway Planning process 
as the opportunity to carry out a transition assessment where appropriate.

12.8 Local authorities should not carry out the transition assessment at inappropriate 
times in a young person’s life, such as when they are sitting their exams and it 
would cause disruption. The SEND Code of Practice similarly states that local 
authorities must minimise disruption to the child and their family – for example 
by combining multiple appointments where possible. Local authorities should 
seek to agree the best time for assessments and planning with the young 
person or carer, and where appropriate, their family and any other relevant 
partners.

12.9 Children social care legal implications
The Children and Families Act Part 3 became law on September 1st 2014

There were 7 key tenets of the act: 

i. A new Education, Health and Care (EHC) Plan based on a single 
assessment process will replace special education statements. EHC 
plans will support children, young people and their families from birth to 
25.



20

ii. Local authorities must involve families and children in discussions and 
decisions relating to their care and education; and provide impartial 
advice, support and mediation services

iii. The legislation extends the rights to a personal budget for the 
support to children, young people and families

iv. There is a statutory protection for 14-25 year olds embedding 
preparing for adulthood pathways

v. The legislation covers all schools including academies.

vi. The provision of local offer to be prepared for children and families 
must be made available in a clear, easy to read manner

vii. Joint commissioning across education, health and care of appropriate
provision and placements

12.10 Any perceived failure by the local authority can be challenged via mediation 
Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Tribunal or an application for 
Judicial Review.

13. Diversity Implications

13.1 Part 3 of the Children and Families Act 2104 refers to relevant linked legislation 
and in particular the Equalities Act 2 where schools, early years providers, post 
16 institutions, Local Authorities and others have legal obligations towards 
disabled children and young people for example:

 They must not discriminate for a reason arising in consequence of a child 
or young person’s disability

 They must make reasonable adjustments to ensure that disabled 
children and young people are not at a substantial disadvantage 
compared to their peers.

13.2 Where a child or young person is covered by SEN and Disabilities legislation 
reasonable adjustments and access arrangements should be considered as 
part of the SEN planning and review.

Contact Officers

Gail Tolley
Strategic Director Children and Young People
gail.tolley@brent.gov.uk

GAIL TOLLEY
Strategic Director Children and Young People

mailto:gail.tolley@brent.gov.uk


Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee

29 March 2017

Report from the Strategic
Director for Children and Young People

For Information and 
comment Wards Affected:

ALL

Annual School Standards and Achievement Report 
2015-2016

1.0 Subject

1.1 A report on school standards and achievement was last presented to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in February 2016.

1.2 This report is being referred to the Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee, March 
2017.  

2.0  Rationale

2.1 This report meets Brent Council’s strategic priorities and policies, and affects the wellbeing 
of the Borough’s communities and residents because school standards are a corporate 
priority for Brent Council as set out in the Brent Borough Plan 2015-19. 

2.2 The stated aims of the Plan included: 

 Working with the Brent Schools Partnership and other education partners to support 
and challenge local schools to ensure that all of them provide a high quality education.

2.3 The aim in the Plan is that:  

 All primary, secondary and special schools in the Borough will be rated ‘good’ or 
‘outstanding’ by Ofsted by 2017. 

3.0 Selection

3.1 At the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 27 February 2016, it was resolved that school 
standards and achievement would be scrutinised again after one year. School standards 
and achievement are of concern to a large number of the Borough’s residents, and address 
a corporate priority as set out above.   



2

4.0 Information

Statutory Duties

4.1 The local authority has a statutory duty (Children Act 2004, 2006) to act as the champion 
for all children and young people in the borough and is responsible for maintaining an 
overview of the effectiveness of all schools including sponsored academies, converter 
academies, free schools, the local college and training providers.  The local authority also 
has a statutory duty ‘to promote high standards and fulfilment of potential in schools so 
that all children and young people benefit from at least a good education.” (The Education 
Act 2011).  Any child learning within the borough is a Brent pupil regardless of the form of 
governance of the school. Brent Council is therefore responsible for maintaining a full 
overview of the effectiveness of all schools and local education provision. 

Collaborative arrangements

4.2 Brent’s Strategic School Effectiveness Partnership Board was established in 2014 to 
ensure that there is a clear strategic oversight of educational provision in Brent.  The board 
is convened and chaired by the Strategic Director Children and Young People, and has 
representation from all school effectiveness partners in Brent.  Its membership includes 
school leaders (headteachers and a National Leader of Governance (NLG)) from each 
phase of education, the Brent Schools Partnership (BSP), and the two local Teaching 
School Alliances (TSAs) led by Brent schools.  

4.3 The partnership board keeps under review the Strategic Framework for School 
Effectiveness in Brent 2014-17 which governs the work of the Setting and School 
Effectiveness Service.  The strategic framework reflects the borough plan’s ambition that 
all Brent children attain as highly as they can in good and outstanding schools.  The board 
provides a forum for agreeing local arrangements for the provision of school-to-school 
support and intervention in schools causing concern, and the monitoring and evaluation of 
the impact of the support and intervention.  It also offers a strategic forum to discuss 
challenges and opportunities including responses to government consultations on policy 
changes, for example, the proposed schools national funding formula and increase of 
selective education. 

4.4 To agree the practical operation and implementation of the board’s decisions and to 
determine agenda items for the board, there is also a School Effectiveness Partnership 
Group.  The group’s members are the leaders of school-to-school support in Brent (the 
Teaching School Alliances and BSP), and the Setting and School Effectiveness Service.

4.5 The Strategic Framework for School Effectiveness recognises that school leaders have 
the proven expertise and experience to support school improvement.  Collaborative 
school-led partnerships are now a key feature of Brent’s education provision with 
improvement being driven by local schools. The Brent Schools Partnership (BSP) which 
includes Woodfield Teaching School Alliance and Brent Teaching School Alliance, has 
continued to develop its role in offering school-to-school support over the last year.  It has 
identified schools with expertise to become specialist centres to lead school improvement 
support in an aspect of provision, for example mathematics and safeguarding.  In addition, 
in Brent there are seven headteachers who are National Leaders of Education (NLEs) and 
one who is a Local Leader of Education, and there are two chairs of governors who are 
NLGs.  Where the local authority needs to intervene in schools to bring about rapid 
improvement it has over the last year commissioned and brokered services from Brent’s 



3

school-to-school support partners: the two Teaching School Alliances, the BSP, NLEs and 
NLGs. 

The Setting and School Effectiveness Service

4.6 The work of the Setting and School Effectiveness Service is guided by the Strategic 
Framework for School Effectiveness and is focused on meeting the local authority’s 
statutory responsibilities.  When the unvalidated primary and secondary results are 
published in the summer, the service produces an annual school performance profile for 
each school based on pupil outcomes data. On this basis, schools are provisionally 
identified as performing well, at risk of underperforming or underperforming.  Discussions 
then take place with school leaders to agree their school’s category against the criteria 
published in the strategic framework. The agreed category determines the level of support 
and intervention that the school receives from the service. The service has a small team 
of centrally-based officers, School Effectiveness Lead Professionals (SELPs) who are 
assigned to work with a group of schools.  

4.7 When a school is identified as causing concern, the service establishes a Rapid 
Improvement Group (RIG) chaired by a senior school effectiveness officer to monitor and 
challenge the leadership on the impact of the school’s improvement plan. The group meets 
half termly for up to 18 months (extended in exceptional circumstances for schools issued 
a warning notice to 24 months). The membership of a RIG includes the headteacher, the 
chair of governors and the link SELP. Where issues remain or there has not been rapid 
enough improvement the local authority uses its powers of intervention which include 
issuing a warning notice and applying to the Secretary of State to replace the governing 
board with an Interim Executive Board (IEB).

4.8 During the last academic year two IEBs were in place.  One was replaced by a full 
governing board because the local authority agreed that the school had significantly 
improved.  The school was inspected shortly afterwards and judged by Ofsted as good.  
The second IEB will be replaced in April this year because of the school’s improvement 
and an agreement with its feeder infant school to form a hard federation.

School governance

4.9 The Setting and School Effectiveness Service includes governor support.  The service 
assists governing boards in ensuring that schools are able to comply with national 
legislation, local policy and best practice. The team offers a comprehensive training and 
development programme for governors.  Over the last year the Department for Education 
has raised its expectations of governance and in January 2017 published A Competency 
Framework for Governance.  For this reason, improving the quality of governance will be 
a priority in the revised Strategic Framework for School Effectiveness which will be 
launched later this year.  Local partners, including the BSP are also developing a governor 
development programme offer to schools. 



4

4.10 The governance arrangements of Brent schools have continued to change.  Over the last 
year an infant and a junior school amalgamated.  There are currently 84 schools:  

Type of school Nursery Primary Secondary All-
through

Special Pupil Referral 
Unit

Total

Maintained Community 4 31 0 0 3 2 40
Maintained Voluntary-aided 0 18 2 0 0 0 20
Maintained Foundation 0 2 0 0 0 0 2
Sponsored Academy 0 3 3 1 0 0 7
Converter Academy 0 4 6 2 1 0 13
Free School 0 1 1 0 0 0 2
Total 4 59 12 3 4 2 84

4.11 In March 2016 the Department for Education published the White Paper – Educational 
Excellence Everywhere which proposed significant changes to school provision including 
a national funding formula and all schools becoming academies by 2022. The policy on 
mandatory academy conversion has since been dropped along with most of the other white 
paper proposals. However, the consultation on the schools national funding formula 
proposal closed last week, and if it is introduced will significantly reduce funding for Brent 
schools. 

Overall school effectiveness

4.12 The overall effectiveness of Brent schools has continued to improve in particular in the 
primary and secondary phases.  At the end of the last academic year, 94 per cent of Brent 
schools were judged good or outstanding, an increase of eight percentage points on the 
previous year’s figure of 86 per cent.  This put Brent eight percentage points above the 
national average of 86 per cent and above the London average of 90 per cent.  The figure 
was just below the borough plan’s target of 95 per cent for 2016.  All nursery and special 
schools, and pupil referral units have been judged as at least good.

4.13 In September 2015, Ofsted introduced a new common inspection framework for all 
providers of education to children and young people.  During the last academic year there 
were 18 inspections.  The Ofsted judgements increased at ten schools (two inadequate to 
good, five requires improvement (RI) to good and three good to outstanding).  The College 
of North West London also moved from RI to good.  Six schools remained good, and a 



5

primary academy was judged good at its first inspection. The judgement on one primary 
academy was lowered from good to RI.    

4.14 This academic year, to date, twelve inspection reports have been published.  One 
secondary academy previously judged inadequate has been judged as good, one RI 
secondary school has been judged good, seven primary schools and one secondary have 
remained good, one special school moved from good to outstanding and another special 
school remained outstanding.  There are now no schools judged inadequate in Brent and 
all of the secondary schools that have been inspected are good or outstanding. Three 
schools are currently RI, a foundation school, a community school and an academy.

4.15 In the 2015-2016 academic year, Brent missed its target for schools judged good or 
outstanding by one percentage point.  However, this was a significant improvement on the 
four point gap in 2015 and the seven point gap in 2014.  The continuous improvement in 
the quality of leadership in Brent schools, the impact of school-led partnerships and the 
rigorous approach to monitoring, challenging and supporting schools outlined in the 
Strategic Framework for School Effectiveness has led to this accelerated improvement.  
The Ofsted inspection cycle of two and a half years for schools judged RI means that two 
Brent schools currently judged RI are not due an inspection until the 2017-2018 academic 
year.

Standards and Achievement

4.16 The performance measures for schools and colleges were changed in 2016 to reflect the 
curriculum and qualification reforms that have been introduced since 2014 and were 
announced in the 2010 Schools White Paper: The importance of teaching and the 2011 
Review of Vocational Education – The Wolf Report.  As a consequence it is not possible 
to make comparisons with previous years.

4.17 Brent performed well against the national averages in 2016 for the primary and secondary 
headline attainment measures but was below London at the end of Key Stage 2 and just 
below London at the end of Key Stage 4.  The borough performed very well in measures 
of pupil progress.  It was significantly above the national averages at both key stages, and 
above the London average at Key Stage 4 and in mathematics at Key Stage 2.

Primary

4.18 In 2016, Brent was above the national averages for all primary school headline indicators.  
The attainment of children at the end of the Early Years Foundation Stage improved, 
closing the gap with the national average.  However, Brent was just below or in line with 
the averages for London and statistical neighbours1 for all of the headline indicators with 
the exception of the high level of progress made by pupils in mathematics.

4.19 For primary schools the new headline measure is the proportion of pupils attaining the 
expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics at the end of Key Stage 2.  In 2016, 
for Brent this was 55 per cent compared to the national average of 53 per cent and the 
London average of 59 per cent.  

   
4.20 The new primary headline measures of progress relate to pupil performance in Key Stage 

2. In 2016, the average progress scores for Brent pupils were above the national averages 

1 Statistical neighbours are local authorities with a similar demographic profile to Brent. Brent’s statistical 
neighbours are: Ealing; Waltham Forest; Haringey; Croydon; Lewisham; Newham; Enfield; Hounslow; Greenwich; 
Hackney.



6

for reading, writing and mathematics.  Brent is below the London average for reading and 
writing but well above London for mathematics.

4.21 A key issue for Brent continues to be the wide variation in the attainment of pupils at 
different primary schools.  The Setting and School Effectiveness Service is working with 
the schools where outcomes are a concern to ensure rapid improvement2.

           

4.22 At Key Stage 2, the difference between the school with the highest proportion of pupils 
attaining the headline measure (meeting the expected standard in reading, writing and 
mathematics (RWM)) and the school with the lowest proportion was 65 percentage points. 
No primary schools were below the Department for Education’s floor standard because the 
progress made by pupils at Key Stage 2 in reading, writing and mathematics at all schools 
was above the minimum threshold.  

2 The Brent Strategic Framework for School Effectivenes 2014-2017 sets out the details.



7

Secondary

4.23 The new headline measures for secondary schools are the Attainment 8 score and the 
Progress 8 score.  The average attainment in Brent was 51.5, above the national average 
and average for statistical neighbours and marginally below London. The average progress 
that Brent students made in eight GCSE subjects at secondary school was well above the 
national average, statistical neighbours and London. At Key Stage 5 Brent performed 
similarly to the national and London averages for each of the three new measures.

4.24 Similar to the primary phase, headline figures mask the variation in the performance of 
schools.  The difference between the school with the highest proportion of students 
attaining the headline measure and the school with the lowest proportion is 25 points (three 
GCSE grades per subject).  The graph above shows the variability of outcomes between 
schools at Key Stage 4, and the graph below the variation in progress made by students 
at different secondary schools. The difference between the progress of students at the 
highest scoring school and the lowest is 0.72 (approximately two thirds of a GCSE grade). 
 No secondary schools were below the Department for Education’s floor standard because 
the average progress made by students at all schools was above the minimum threshold.  



8

The performance of Groups

4.25 The Setting and School Effectiveness Service monitors school standards and achievement 
by gender, disadvantage, special educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND), ethnic 
group and English as an additional language (EAL). 

4.26 Under the new performance measures the gender gap between boys and girls continues. 
However, the gap at primary is less than the national gap, and boys made more progress 
than girls at secondary school. Brent children and young people with SEND perform well 
against pupils with SEND nationally but the gap with all pupils is too high. Pupils with EAL 
make above average progress at Brent schools and attain well compared to national 
averages.

4.27 Most of Brent’s significant ethnic groups perform well compared to either the same group 
nationally or all pupils.  However the Somali group is just below national averages for 
attainment and below for all headline measures for this group nationally. The Black 
Caribbean group is well below national averages, but this is primarily because of the very 
low attainment of Black Caribbean boys.  The outcomes for the small group of Travellers 
of Irish Heritage have improved significantly at primary level but remain poor at secondary 
level.  Primary schools have put in place a number of initiatives to better meet the needs 
of Travellers and to improve their attendance which have had impact.

4.28 The continued low performance of Black Caribbean boys is a major concern.  It is therefore 
now a priority of the Children and Young People’s department, and the Strategic School 
Effectiveness Partnership Board has agreed that it must be a priority for the revised school 
effectiveness strategy which comes into effect from September. As a consequence the 
BSP and Teaching School Alliances are prioritising sharing best practice and supporting 
schools to address the attainment gap. The Setting and School Effectiveness Service has 
analysed this group’s data for all schools at all key stages to identify the best performing 
schools, and is working with community partners to support schools to address the issue.

Conclusion

4.29 The Strategic Framework for School Effectiveness in Brent 2014-2017 has been 
successful in meeting the corporate aim of improving the quality of education in Brent to at 
least ‘good’ at all secondary and special schools and nearly all primary schools.  Standards 
and achievement are above national averages at all key stages and the gap at early years 
has significantly closed. Standards at the end of compulsory school age are at the London 
average and students make more progress at secondary school than the London average.

4.30 Brent is unique in its high proportion of pupils with EAL (63 per cent) and under 16s born 
outside the United Kingdom (19 per cent), many starting formal education in England much 
later than their peers, often with little or no English, and sometimes with no experience of 
any formal education.  The 2016 results illustrate how rapidly pupils make progress in Brent 
schools compared to nationally.

4.31 The revised Strategic Framework for School Effectiveness will be launched in September 
2017.  The key priorities will be: raising the attainment of groups, specifically Black 
Caribbean boys and pupils with SEND; raising the standards and progress of pupils at the 
lowest performing schools; ensuring that school governance meets national quality 
expectations and that governing boards are equipped to challenge school leaders to 
address the underperformance of groups in their schools; sustaining Ofsted good and 
outstanding judgements at all schools.



9

5.0 Data

5.1 Ofsted judgements by phase (July 2016)

  
`

  



10

5.2 Primary Standards and Achievement

5.2.1 Early Years Foundation Stage 

In 2016, Brent’s  figure for the proportion of children attaining a good level of development3 
and above increased to 68 per cent, an increase of five percentage points compared to 
2015 (63 per cent).  This is one percentage point below the national average which 
increased to 69 per cent, three percentage points below the London average and four 
percentage points below the average for Brent’s statistical neighbours.

5.2.2 Year 1 Phonics Screening 

The proportion of Brent pupils working at the required standards for phonics4  increased 
by five percentage points to 82 per cent compared to 2015 (77 per cent).  The Brent 
average rose to one percentage point above the national average which increased to 81 
per cent, to one percentage point below the London average and one percentage point 
below the average for Brent’s statistical neighbours.   

3 Children attaining a good level of development are those attaining at least the expected level within the following 
areas of learning: PRIME - communication and language; physical development; and personal, social and emotional 
development; plus literacy and mathematics.
4 The phonics screening check is a short, light-touch assessment to confirm whether individual pupils have learnt 
phonic decoding to an appropriate standard. The screening check is for all Year 1 pupils in maintained schools, 
academies and free schools.  Pupils who do not meet the required standard of the check in Year 1 are tested again 
in Year 2.



11

5.2.3 Key Stage 1 

5.2.3.1The assessment of attainment in reading, writing and mathematics at Key Stage 1 changed 
in 2016 following the introduction of the new national curriculum in 2014. Reading and 
mathematics are now assessed by tests and writing is teacher assessed. Although the 
tests are set externally, they are marked by teachers within the school. The previous 
national curriculum levels have been replaced by a standardised score which determines 
whether pupils are attaining the expected national standard or exceeding it by working at 
greater depth. As this is the first year under the new curriculum, the results cannot be 
directly compared to previous years. 

5.2.3.2 In 2016, the proportion of Brent pupils attaining the expected standard in reading was 75 
per cent.  This is one percentage point above the national average, and two percentage 
points below the London average and three percentage points below Brent’s statistical 
neighbours.  

5.2.3.3The proportion of Brent pupils attaining the expected standard in writing was 68 per cent 
which is two percentage point above the national average, two percentage points below 
the London average and four percentage points below Brent’s statistical neighbours.  

5.2.3.4Brent’s proportion of pupils attaining the expected standard in mathematics was 74 per 
cent. This is one percentage point above the national average, three percentage points 
below the London average and four percentage points below Brent’s statistical neighbours.  

5.2.3.5For the combined measure, 64 per cent of Brent’s pupils attained the expected standard 
in reading, writing, and mathematics (RWM) which is four percentage points above the 
national average. Figures for London and statistical neighbours are not available. 

 



12

5.2.4 Key Stage 2 

5.2.4.1In 2016, Key Stage 2 assessment was also changed to reflect the demands of the new 
national curriculum.  Levels were replaced by scaled scores to determine whether pupils 
were meeting the expected national standards and exceeding them by working at greater 
depth.  Reading, mathematics, and grammar, punctuation and spelling (GPS) were 
assessed by test and writing was assessed by teachers.

5.2.4.2The new headline measure of primary school attainment introduced in 2016 is the 
proportion of pupils attaining the expected standard in reading, writing, and mathematics 
combined.  For Brent, 55 per cent of pupils attained this measure. This is two percentage 
points above the national average, four percentage points below the London average and 
three below statistical neighbours.  

5.2.4.3The new headline Key Stage 2 pupil progress measures compare the progress made by 
groups of pupils with similar attainment at the end of Key Stage 1 to the national average 
attainment for the group at the end of Key Stage 2.  The national average is benchmarked 
at zero. A plus score indicates that pupils have made more progress than the national 
average.



13

Progress scores Brent England London

Reading 0.5 0 0.9

Writing 0.8 0 1.1

Mathematics 2.2 0 1.5

5.2.4.4 Brent pupils’ average progress in reading, writing and mathematics was above the national 
average, below London in reading and writing, but well above the London average in 
mathematics.



14

5.2.5 Brent Key Stage 2 results by school

DfE School Cohort % RWM Reading Writing Maths Overall Judgement Date

2000 Anson Primary School 50 53 3.5 2.8 2.8 G 25/03/2015
6906 Ark Academy 58 53 -2.9 -2.2 -1.2 O 24/11/2010
2021 Ark Franklin Primary Academy 82 57 -0.5 1.6 1.1 G 21/06/2016
3603 Avigdor Hirsch Torah Temimah Primary 29 62 1.4 -0.9 1.2 G 28/09/2016
2049 Barham Primary School 90 53 1.3 1.3 4.6 G 10/03/2016
2075 Braintcroft Primary School 113 40 -2.7 1.3 0.7 G 19/11/2013
2003 Brentfield Primary School 59 47 -1.4 -1.3 2.6 G 06/10/2016
2006 Byron Court Primary School 89 69 3.8 5.2 4.1 O 22/03/2012
2068 Chalkhill Primary School 60 68 1.7 2.5 5.5 G 09/03/2016
3301 Christ Church CofE Primary School 26 50 -0.8 3.9 1.1 G 02/10/2014
2056 Donnington Primary School 30 47 -3.2 -2.9 -3.1 G 07/02/2013
2055 Elsley Primary School 61 37 -3.1 0.2 2.0 G 17/01/2017
2074 Fryent Primary School 60 42 -2.0 -0.2 1.3 G 04/06/2014
2067 Furness Primary School 58 43 0.3 2.3 0.7 G 11/06/2015
2022 Gladstone Park Primary School 89 55 -0.9 0.7 0.7 ~ ~
2017 Harlesden Primary School 30 35 1.2 3.5 3.0 G 15/07/2014
5949 Islamia Primary School 58 67 0.8 3.1 1.8 G 29/11/2016
3302 John Keble CofE Primary School 53 37 -0.6 -4.9 -0.5 G 26/09/2013
2024 Kingsbury Green Primary School 87 50 -0.6 0.8 2.7 O 03/02/2016
2028 Leopold Primary School 59 46 0.8 2.6 -2.6 G 28/11/2011
2031 Lyon Park Junior School 174 30 -2.0 -2.5 3.2 G 17/12/2013
5202 Malorees Junior School 58 57 2.3 -0.1 0 R 11/03/2015
2066 Mitchell Brook Primary School 57 53 3.4 1.6 3.0 O 03/11/2015
2073 Mora Primary School 55 42 0.4 4.1 1.9 G 03/12/2014
2018 Mount Stewart Junior School 90 76 -0.3 2.8 2.8 O 10/10/2012
2064 Newfield Primary School 51 28 -3.0 1.4 -3.2 R 14/05/2015
5201 North West London Jewish Day School 33 76 4.8 3.1 4.7 G 05/02/2013
2034 Northview Junior and Infant School 30 70 2.2 3.1 4.5 G 22/11/2011
5200 Oakington Manor Primary School 84 75 4.8 2.1 6.2 O 07/07/2010
2071 Oliver Goldsmith Primary School 59 72 1.6 1.7 3.5 G 08/05/2014
3500 Our Lady of Grace Catholic Junior School 59 93 3.7 2 5.5 O 23/10/2012
3508 Our Lady of Lourdes RC Primary School 29 41 1.4 6.3 1.1 G 06/07/2016
2038 Park Lane Primary School 60 53 1.6 6.4 5.3 G 27/09/2016
5410 Preston Manor School 58 31 SUP SUP SUP G 14/06/2016
2039 Preston Park Primary School 90 55 1.0 -2.9 3.5 G 26/02/2014
3303 Princess Frederica CofE Primary School 57 68 3.5 -0.8 1.6 G 24/01/2017
2041 Roe Green Junior School 120 61 -1.1 -1.4 1.7 G 31/01/2017
2070 Salusbury Primary School 87 53 4.7 0 3.6 G 09/03/2016
3601 Sinai Jewish Primary School 87 64 1.0 -3.3 1.2 G 20/01/2015
2029 St Andrew and St Francis CofE Primary 59 47 0.1 0.3 1.4 ~ ~
3501 St Joseph RC Junior School 70 76 1.0 -1.0 1.3 O 28/11/2011
5203 St Joseph's Roman Catholic Primary School 62 87 4.5 1.2 6.0 O 16/01/2013
3511 St Margaret Clitherow RC Primary School 30 53 -0.1 -2.3 4.8 G 04/11/2015
3505 St Mary Magdalen's Catholic Junior School 90 52 -0.2 1.7 1.7 G 03/07/2014
3308 St Mary's CofE Primary School 40 56 -0.4 1.3 3.6 G 11/12/2012
3602 St Mary's RC Primary School 51 43 -2.1 0.9 0.4 G 23/03/2016
3506 St Robert Southwell RC Primary School 49 61 0.7 0 4.2 G 22/01/2013
2076 Sudbury Primary School 120 56 0.6 0.4 3.2 R 17/11/2015
5204 The Kilburn Park School Foundation 54 65 1.7 7.8 1.0 G 15/03/2016
2057 The Stonebridge School 90 30 -2.4 -0.1 0.2 G 20/03/2013
2020 Uxendon Manor Primary School 60 75 0 3.8 3.6 G 10/07/2013
3605 Wembley Primary School 120 39 -2.9 -5.2 -0.1 G 08/03/2016
2053 Wykeham Primary School 60 80 1.4 0.2 2.3 O 24/03/2015

National Floor Standard Threshold 65% -5.0 -7.0 -5.0

SUP = supressed for privacy

ATTAINMENT Avg. Progress Score OFSTED2016 KS2 Results

In 2016, a school was above the national floor standard threshold if: 
 At least 65% of pupils met the expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics or 
 The school achieved sufficient progress scores in all three subjects: at least -5 in reading and -7 in writing and -

5 in mathematics. 
No Brent schools were below the floor standard.  However, one school met the Department for Education’s new 
coasting school criteria because progress was too low in reading.  The Setting and School Effectiveness Service has 
been supporting the school to improve reading.



15

5.2.6 Key Stage 2 - Performance of Groups

5.2.6.1 Gender

The Brent average for the proportion of girls attaining the expected standard in reading, 
writing and mathematics at Key Stage 2 in 2016 was five percentage points above boys’ 
attainment. Boys’ attainment was 2 percentage points above the average for all boys 
nationally and just below the national average for all pupils.

5.2.6.2 Disadvantaged compared to non-disadvantaged pupils

Disadvantaged pupils are defined as pupils who have been eligible for free school meals 
at any point in the previous six years or are children looked after. Schools receive additional 
funding through the Pupil Premium Grant to support these pupils to close the gap with non-
disadvantaged pupils.

 KS2 - % of pupils attaining the expected standard in 2016 

 Reading Writing Maths RWM

 
Cohort

LA National GAP LA National GAP LA National GAP LA National GAP

Dis-adv 1291 60 52 8 70 63 7 69 57 12 48 39 9

Non-dis 2118 67 72 -5 76 79 -3 80 75 5 58 60 -2

In 2016 the Brent average for disadvantaged pupils attaining the expected standard in 
reading, writing and mathematics was 48 per cent. This is well above the national average 
for disadvantaged pupils (39 per cent) but ten percentage points below the Brent average 
for non-disadvantaged pupils and 12 percentage points below the national average for 
non-disadvantaged pupils.

5.2.6.3 Pupils with Special Educational Needs and/or Disabilities (SEND)

In 2016 Brent pupils with SEND attaining the expected standard in reading, writing and 
mathematics was 18 per cent which above the national average for pupils with SEND but 
well below the Brent and national averages for all pupils.

 KS2 - % of pupils attaining the expected standard in 2016 

 Reading Writing Maths RWM

 
Cohort

LA National GAP LA National GAP LA National GAP LA National GAP

Male 1614 62 62 0 70 68 2 77 70 7 52 50 2

Female 1795 67 70 -3 79 81 -2 75 70 5 57 57 0

All Pupils 3409 64 66 -2 75 74 1 76 70 6 55 53 2

 KS2 - % of pupils attaining the expected standard in 2016 

 Reading Writing Maths RWM

 
Cohort

LA National GAP LA National GAP LA National GAP LA National GAP

SEND 635 33 29 4 37 28 9 41 32 9 18 14 4



16

5.2.6.4 Ethnic Groups

 KS2 - % of pupils attaining the expected standard in 2016 

 Reading Writing Maths RWM

 
Cohort

LA National GAP LA National GAP LA National GAP LA National GAP

AIND 425 60 71 -11 73 83 -10 82 82 0 56 64 -8

APKN 248 67 56 11 76 73 3 76 68 8 56 47 9

BAFR 535 65 64 1 75 76 -1 76 72 4 54 54 0

BSOM 299 59 59 0 71 73 -2 76 72 4 50 48 2

BCRB 301 57 57 0 65 70 -5 57 59 -2 39 42 -3

WBRI 319 78 67 11 75 74 1 78 69 9 64 54 10

WIRT 6 83 51 32 67 33 34 67 31 36 50 18 32

All Pupils 3409 64 66 -2 75 74 1 76 70 6 55 53 2

Of Brent’s significant ethnic groups, in 2016, Black Caribbean (BCRB) was 14 percentage 
points below the national average for all pupils attaining the expected standard in reading, 
writing and mathematics at the end of Key Stage 2 and the Black Somali (BSOM) group 
was three percentage points below. The attainment of the whole Black African group 
(BAFR), Asian Pakistani (APKN) and White British (WBRI) groups was above the national 
average and above the group nationally.  Although the Asian Indian (AIND) group was 
above the national average, the Brent average was below the average for this group 
nationally. The small group of Travellers of Irish Heritage (WIRT) attained close to the 
national averages and well above the average for this group nationally. The results for the 
Gypsy and Roma group cannot be reported because there were less than five pupils.  

Black Caribbean Boys

LA National GAP LA National GAP LA National GAP LA National GAP
BCRB - Boys 159 52 66 -14 58 74 -16 55 70 -15 34 53 -19

KS2 - % of pupils achieving the expected standard in 2016  

Cohort Reading Writing Maths RWM

The breakdown for Black Caribbean boys in Brent shows that attainment in reading, writing 
and mathematics combined at the end of Key Stage 2 was 19 percentage points below the 
national average for all pupils.

5.2.6.5 Pupils with English as an Additional Language (EAL)

 KS2 - % of pupils attaining the expected standard in 2016 

 Reading Writing Maths RWM

 
Cohort

LA National GAP LA National GAP LA National GAP LA National GAP

EAL 2279 62 58 4 74 73 1 78 72 6 53 50 3

In 2016, the proportion of Brent pupils with EAL attaining the expected standard in reading, 
writing and mathematics was 53 per cent which is above the national average for pupils 
with EAL and in line with the national average for all pupils.



17

5.3 Secondary Standards and Achievement

5.3.1   Key Stage 4

5.3.1.1In 2016, the Department for Education (DfE) introduced new headline measures of 
secondary school performance. The new measures are based upon student progress 
(Progress 8) and attainment (Attainment 8) in eight GCSE subjects. Attainment 8 measures 
the performance of students across eight qualifications including mathematics (double 
weighted) and English (double weighted), three other subjects that count in the English 
Baccalaureate (EBacc)5 measure and three further qualifications that can be GCSE 
qualifications (including EBacc subjects) or any other non-GCSE qualifications approved 
by the DfE. 

5.3.1.2Brent’s Attainment 8 score was 51.5 in 2016, marginally below the London average of 51.7 
and above the national average and statistical neighbour average of 49.9.  This indicates 
that students in Brent attained an average of grade B and above in eight GCSE subjects.  

5 The EBacc is made up of: English; mathematics; history or geography; the sciences; a language



18

5.3.1.3Brent’s score on Progress 8 was 0.31 which indicates that on average the students in Brent 
made a third of a grade more progress in each of their eight subjects at secondary school 
than students nationally.  This is above the average progress made by students in London 
(0.16) and Brent’s statistical neighbours (0.16).

5.3.1.4In 2016, Brent’s figures for the proportion of students attaining grades A*-C in English and 
maths increased to 64 per cent, an increase of three percentage points compared to 2015 
(61 per cent).  This is above the national average, two percentage points below the London 
average and three percentage points above the average for Brent’s statistical neighbours. 



19

5.3.1.5In 2016, the proportion of Brent students attaining the English Baccalaureate decreased 
to 32 per cent points compared to 2015 (34 per cent).  This is seven percentage points 
above the national average, in line with the London average and three percentage points 
above the average for Brent’s statistical neighbours.

5.3.2 Brent Key Stage 4 results by school

~

~



20

No Brent schools were below the Department for Education’s (DfE’s) floor standard of -0.5 on the 
Progress 8 measure and there are no secondary schools that meet the DfE’s new coasting schools criteria.

5.3.3 Key Stage 4 - Performance of Groups

5.3.3.1 Gender

 Key Stage 4 - 2016

 Progress 8 Attainment 8 

 
Cohort

LA National GAP LA National GAP

All 
Students 3049 0.31 0 0.31 51.5 49.9 1.6

Male 1520 0.47 -0.17 0.64 48.8 47.5 1.3

Female 1529 0.14 0.11 0.03 53.4 52.1 1.3

The Brent average Attainment 8 score for girls was four points above boys (half a higher 
grade in each subject).  Boys’ attainment was one point above the average for all boys 
nationally and one point below the national average for all students.  For the Progress 8 
measure Brent boys made significantly more progress at secondary school than girls and 
the average for boys nationally (half a grade more progress in each subject).  



21

5.3.3.2 Disadvantaged compared to non-disadvantaged students
Key Stage 4 - 2016

Progress 8 Attainment 8
Cohort

LA National GAP LA National GAP

Dis-adv 1102 0.11 -0.38 0.48 46.0 41.1 4.9

Non-dis 1947 0.44 0.3 0.41 54.0 53.1 0.9

The Brent average Attainment 8 score for disadvantaged students was eight points below 
non-disadvantaged students. Brent disadvantaged student attainment was five points 
above the national average for disadvantaged students. For the Progress 8 measure Brent 
disadvantaged students made more progress at secondary school than all students 
nationally but less progress than non-disadvantaged students in Brent.  

5.3.3.3 Students with Special Educational Needs and/or Disabilities (SEND)
 KS4 - 2016

 Progress 8 Attainment 8 

 
Cohort

LA National GAP LA National GAP

SEND 314 -0.32 -0.55 0.23 29.0 31.0 -2.0

The Brent average Attainment 8 score for students with SEND was two points below the 
national average for students with SEND and well below the average for all students. For 
the Progress 8 measure Brent students made more progress at secondary school than 
students with SEND nationally, but less progress than the average for all students (a third 
of a grade in each subject).  

5.3.3.4 Ethnic Groups

 Key Stage 4 - 2016

 Progress 8 Attainment 8 

 
Cohort

LA National GAP LA National GAP

AIND 498 0.28 0.60 -0.32 54.2 57.0 -2.8

APKN 170 0.47 0.38 0.09 51.3 48.0 3.3

BAFR 440 0.38 0.21 0.17 47.6 50.0 -2.4

BSOM 250 0.25 0.29 -0.04 46.1 47.5 -1.4

BCRB 269 0.21 -0.20 0.41 43.7 45.0 -1.3

WBRI 172 0.11 -0.11 0.22 52.7 50.0 2.7

WIRT 5 -2.72 -1.16 -1.56 9.3 29.1 -19.8

All Students 3049 0.31 0 0.31 51.5 49.9 1.6

Of Brent’s significant ethnic groups, in 2016, Black Caribbean (BCRB) was six points below 
the national average for all students and the Black Somali (BSOM) group was three points 
below. The Asian Pakistani (APKN) and White British (WBRI) groups were above the 
national average and above the group nationally, and the Asian Indian (AIND) was above 
the national average. All of Brent’s significant groups made more progress at secondary 
school than the national average for all students nationally. There were no Gypsy/Roma 
students completing Key Stage 4, and just five Travellers of Irish Heritage (WIRT). The 
Attainment 8 and Progress 8 scores for Travellers were well below the national averages.



22

Black Caribbean boys

LA National GAP LA National GAP
BCRB - Boys 122 -0.5 0 -0.5 39.3 49.9 -10.6

Progress 8 Attainment 8Cohort

KS4 - 2016 

The data for Black Caribbean boys shows that attainment at the end of Key Stage 4 was 
well below the national average and that this was the only Brent significant group by 
ethnicity to make less progress than all students nationally.

5.3.3.5 Students with English as an Additional Language (EAL)
 KS4 - 2016

 Progress 8 Attainment 8 

 
Cohort

LA National GAP LA National GAP

EAL 1737 0.49 0.40 0.09 50.1 49.7 0.4

In 2016, Brent students with EAL attained above the national average for students with 
EAL and the national average for all students, and they made significantly more progress 
than all students nationally.

5.3.4 Post-16 Key Stage 5

5.3.4.1Key Stage 5 results cover all state-funded mainstream schools, academies, free schools, 
maintained special schools and further education colleges.  In 2016 the Department for 
Education changed the performance measures and consequently they cannot be 
compared with previous years.

5.3.4.2Students on Level 3 programmes can study different qualifications: A Levels, Applied 
General (for example BTEC National Business); Tech Level (for example Mechanical 
Engineering).  At Level 3 Brent secondary schools deliver mainly A Level courses, and 
some Applied General and Tech Level courses, and the College of North West London 
delivers mainly Tech Level and Applied General courses and some A Levels.

5.3.4.3Brent’s 2016 average A Level average point score per qualification was 30.7 marginally 
above the London average 30.5 and the national average 30.4. 10 points equals one A 

                     A Level                                               Tech Level                                          Applied General



23

Level grade.  Therefore, on average, Brent students attained a grade C in each of their A 
Level subjects. 

5.3.4.4For Tech Level courses Brent’s average point score was 34.25 which is above the London 
and national averages. Brent students also attained an average grade of C (33.3 points) 
in Applied General qualifications which is equal to the London average but below the 
national average.   

5.3.5 Brent Key Stage 5 results by institution

6.0  Financial Implications

6.1 There are no financial implications from this report.

7.0  Legal Implications

7.1 There are no legal implications from this report.

8.0 Diversity Implications

8.1 This report includes the analysis of gaps between groups of pupils by: gender; 
disadvantage; special educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND); English as an 
additional language (EAL); ethnic group.  The analysis has been used to identify the priority 
groups for the 2017-2020 Strategic Framework for School Effectiveness, and to guide the 
work of Setting and School Effectiveness Service and its local school improvement 
partners.



24

Contact Officers

Gail Tolley
Strategic Director Children and Young People
gail.tolley@brent.gov.uk

John Galligan
Head of Setting and School Effectiveness 
john.galligan@brent.gov.uk

GAIL TOLLEY
Strategic Director Children and Young People

mailto:gail.tolley@brent.gov.uk
mailto:john.galligan@brent.gov.uk


Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee

29 March 2017

Report from the Director of Policy, 
Performance and Partnerships

For information
 

Wards affected: ALL

Update on Committee’s Work Programme 2016-17

1.0 Summary

1.1 This report updates Members on the Committee’s Work Programme for 
2016/17 and captures scrutiny activity, which has taken place outside of its 
meetings.  

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 Members of the Committee to discuss and note the contents of the report, 
including changes to the agenda items for each meeting. 

2.2 To note the details of Members’ visits, requests for information and responses, 
which have been done outside of the Committee’s 2016/17 Work Programme.

3.0 Background

3.1 Members of the Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee agreed its Work 
Programme 2016/17 earlier this year.  The programme sets out what items will 
be heard at Committee and which items will be looked at as task groups. 
However, the assumption was that it would evolve according to the needs of 
the Committee, and spare capacity would be left to look at issues as they arise.

3.2 For operational reasons, it may be necessary to move items to be heard at a 
particular committee.  In addition, Members and co-opted Members can at any 
time suggest an item to be looked at during a committee meeting, which 
provided it is agreed by the chair, would mean the Work Programme changes.

3.3 Members may request information during a committee meeting or outside of a 
committee meeting as part of the scrutiny process. They also may make visits 
to do first-hand observation in order to better understand an issue for scrutiny. 

4.0 Detail



4.1 As requested by the Committee at the meeting on 23 November 2016, the Chair 
of the Committee wrote to the Metropolitan Police to express the Committee’s 
dissatisfaction about its funding of Brent Local Safeguarding Children Board.  
The letter was forwarded to the office of an Assistant Commissioner who said 
that he will raise the issue at a future meeting about safeguarding. 

4.2 At the last committee meeting, Members agreed to accept the 
recommendations of the scrutiny task group set up to review implementation of 
Signs of Safety. The four recommendations were referred to the Cabinet and 
discussed on 13 March after a presentation by Councillor Hoda-Benn and the 
Committee Chair. 

4.3 The next meeting of the North West London Joint Health and Overview Scrutiny 
Committee is scheduled to take place on 20 April 2017 and is expected to 
include reviewing further aspects of the Shaping a Healthier Future Programme 
and the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP).

4.4 At the committee meeting on 1 February, Members requested an update about 
the STP. Councillor Hirani, Cabinet Member for Community Wellbeing, will be 
responding to the Committee’s recommendations on the STP at the final 
meeting of the current municipal year on 9 May 2017. 

4.5 A recommendation about the LSCB will be referred to Cabinet for the April 
meeting as will the recommendation about procurement and social care. The 
ongoing progress with the Committee’s recommendations is set out in Appendix 
B.

5.0 Financial Implications

5.1        There are no immediate financial implications arising from this report.

6.0 Legal Implications

There are no legal implications arising from this report.

7.0 Equalities Implications

7.1 There are no diversity implications immediately arising from this report.

Contact Officers
Pascoe Sawyers
Head of Strategy and Partnerships
Chief Executive’s Department

PETER GADSDON
Director Performance Policy and Partnerships



Work Programme 2016-17 Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee
Updated 1 March 2017

APPENDIX A
Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2016-17
20 July 2016

Agenda Item Objectives for scrutiny Cabinet 
Member/Member

Brent Council/Partner 
organisations

1. Impact of the 
selective and 
additional landlord 
licensing schemes

Post-decision scrutiny on implementation of the 
landlord licensing schemes and impact on 
improving standards in private rented sector.

Cllr Harbi Farah, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

Phil Porter, Strategic Director Community 
Wellbeing.

Jon Lloyd-Owen, Operational Director 
Housing and Culture

Spencer Randolph, Head of Private 
Housing Services.

2. Task Group report 
on Brent’s housing 
associations

To discuss and agree report from Cllr Tom Miller’s 
task group about housing associations in Brent.

Cllr Tom Miller 

Cllr Harbi Farah, 
Lead Member for 
Housing  

Phil Porter, Strategic Director Community 
Wellbeing.

Jon Lloyd-Owen, Operational Director 
Housing and Culture

3. Update report on 
the implementation 
of an Ethical 
Lettings Agency

Post-decision scrutiny on implementing Ethical 
Lettings Agency agreed by Cabinet in July 2015.

Cllr Harbi Farah, 
Lead Member for 
Housing 

Phil Porter, Strategic Director Community 
Wellbeing.

Jon Lloyd-Owen, Operational Director 
Housing and Culture

4. Scrutiny 2015-16 
annual report

To agree Scrutiny’s annual report. Cllr Matt Kelcher 
Chair Scrutiny 
Committee

Peter Gadsdon, Director Performance 
Policy and Partnerships

5. Scrutiny 2016-17 
work programme

To agree Scrutiny committee’s work programme 
for 2016-17.

Cllr Ketan Sheth 
Chair Scrutiny 
Committee

Peter Gadsdon, Director Performance 
Policy and Partnerships 

*Items involving school education. ** Items which may involve partnership work with schools. 



Work Programme 2016-17 Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee
Updated 1 March 2017

20 September 2016
Agenda Item Objectives for scrutiny Cabinet 

Member/Member
Brent Council/Partner 
organisations

1. New 
Accommodation for 
Independent Living 
(NAIL) project

Scrutiny review of progress of NAIL scheme 
to date against its 2016/17 targets.

*Members’ visit to Victoria Court, Wembley 
on 12 September.

Cllr Krupesh Hirani, 
Cabinet Member for 
Community Wellbeing

Phil Porter, Strategic Director Community 
Wellbeing.

**2. Task Group Signs 
of Safety

Agree task group scoping paper and TOR. Cllr Wilhelmina Mitchell-
Murray, Cabinet 
Member Children and 
Young People

Gail Tolley, Strategic Director Children and 
Young People

3. Sustainability and 
Transformation 
Plan

Scrutiny review of progress of STP. Cllr Krupesh Hirani, 
Cabinet Member for 
Community Wellbeing

Carolyn Downs, Chief Executive
Phil Porter, Strategic Director Community 
Wellbeing
Sarah Mansuralli, Chief Operating Officer, 
Brent CCG
Rob Larkman, Chief Officer, BHH

4. Co-opted members 
on Scrutiny 
committee

To set out the role of co-opted members on 
Community and Wellbeing scrutiny 
committee. 

Cllr Ketan Sheth, Chair 
of Community and 
Wellbeing Scrutiny

Pascoe Sawyers, Head of Strategy and 
Partnerships.

5. Scrutiny work 
programme update

Review the work programme for 2016/17 
and note any changes.

Cllr Ketan Sheth, Chair 
of Community and 
Wellbeing Scrutiny

Pascoe Sawyers, Head of Strategy and 
Partnerships.

*Items involving school education. ** Items which may involve partnership work with schools. 



Work Programme 2016-17 Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee
Updated 1 March 2017

Special Scrutiny Meeting

19 October 2016
Agenda Item Objectives for scrutiny Cabinet 

Member/Member
Brent Council/Partner 
organisations

1. Review of housing 
management 
options

Pre-Cabinet scrutiny of report on the future 
of management for council housing stock.

Cllr Harbi Farah, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing

Phil Porter, Strategic Director Community 
Wellbeing.

Jon Lloyd-Owen, Operational Director 
Housing and Culture

*Items involving school education. ** Items which may involve partnership work with schools. 



Work Programme 2016-17 Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee
Updated 1 March 2017

23 November 2016
Agenda Item Objectives for scrutiny Cabinet 

Member/Member
Brent Council/Partner 
organisations

1. NHS estate in Brent Evaluate impact of changes to the NHS 
estate in Brent 

Cllr Krupesh Hirani, 
Cabinet Member for 
Community Wellbeing

Jake Roe, NHS Property Services

Sue Hardy, Head of Strategic Estate 
Development
Brent, Harrow, Hillingdon and Ealing CCGs

*2. Brent Local 
Safeguarding 
Children’s Board 

Receive 2015-16 annual report. Cllr Wilhelmina Mitchell-
Murray, Cabinet 
Member Children and 
Young People

Mike Howard, Independent Chair Brent LSCB

3. Housing Needs 
services and 
vulnerable clients 

To review progress in implementing 
recommendations for improvements.

Cllr Harbi Farah, 
Cabinet Member 
Housing and Welfare

Phil Porter, Strategic Director Community 
Wellbeing

Jon Lloyd-Owen, Operational Director 
Housing and Culture

Laurence Coaker, Head of Housing Needs
*Items involving school education. ** Items which may involve partnership work with schools. 



Work Programme 2016-17 Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee
Updated 1 March 2017

1 February 2017
Agenda Item Objectives for scrutiny Cabinet 

Member/Member
Brent Council/Partner 
organisations

1. Brent Safeguarding 
Adults Board

Receive 2015-16 annual report Cllr Krupesh Hirani, 
Cabinet Member for 
Community Wellbeing

Michael Preston-Shoot, Chair Brent ASB

**2. Task Group 
Scoping paper 
CAMHS

Receive report from task group and discuss 
recommendations for Cabinet.

Cllr Mili Patel, Cabinet 
Member, Children and 
Young People

Task group chair

Gail Tolley, Strategic Director Children and 
Young People

**3. Task group report 
Signs of Safety

Receive task group report on Signs of 
Safety

Cllr Mili Patel, Cabinet 
Member Children and 
Young People
Cllr Aisha Hoda-Benn 
Task group chair

Gail Tolley, Strategic Director Children and 
Young People

*Items involving school education. ** Items which may involve partnership work with schools.   

**** Scrutiny workshop on air quality and public health took place on 23 January 2017



Work Programme 2016-17 Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee
Updated 1 March 2017

29 March 2017
Agenda Item Objectives for scrutiny Cabinet 

Member/Member
Brent Council/Partner 
organisations

*1. School Annual 
Standards and 
Achievement report

Receive report.

Examine reasons for underachievement in 
Brent’s schools among particular groups.

Cllr Mili Patel, Cabinet 
Member Children and 
Young People

Gail Tolley, Strategic Director Children and 
Young People

*2. Special educational 
needs (SEN)

Update and evaluation of SEN provision. Cllr Mili Patel, Cabinet 
Member Children and 
Young People

Gail Tolley, Strategic Director Children and 
Young People

*Items involving school education. ** Items which may involve partnership work with schools. 
.  



9 May 2017

Agenda 
Rank

Item Objectives for scrutiny Cabinet 
Member/Member

Brent Council/Partner 
organisations

1. Sustainability and 
Transformation 
Plan - Update

Cabinet member to update scrutiny on 
recommendations made in September 2016

Cllr Krupesh Hirani, 
Cabinet Member for 
Community Wellbeing

Phil Porter, Strategic Director Community 
Wellbeing

**2. Children’s oral 
health

Review of work being done to improve 
children’s oral health in Brent.

Cllr Krupesh Hirani, 
Cabinet Member for 
Community Wellbeing

Phil Porter, Strategic Director Community 
Wellbeing

Dr Melanie Smith Director of Public Health

3. Primary Care 
Transformation

Review implications of primary care 
transformation for Brent

Cllr Krupesh Hirani, 
Cabinet Member for 
Community Wellbeing

Brent CCG

4. Task Group report 
Child and 
Adolescent Mental 
Health Services

To discuss and agree task 
recommendations made by the task group

Cllr Ahmad Shahzad Brent CCG
Children and Young People

*Items involving school education. ** Items which may involve partnership work with schools. 





Appendix B

Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee
Tracker of scrutiny actions 2016/17

Committee 
date Report Title No # Summary of recommendation Summary of data request

Responsible/ 
decision 

maker
20-Jul-16 Landlord licensing     

  1 Protocol in place for raids and televised 
raids   Cabinet 

24/10/2016

  
2 Zero tolerance approach with landlords 

who overcrowd properties is maintained  
Cabinet 

24/10/2017

  
3 Mechanism put in place to collect data in 

relation to types of landlords  
Cabinet 

24/10/2018

  
4 Information pack for tenants in plain 

English is produced  
Cabinet 

24/10/2019

  
5 Licensing information be included with 

Council Tax bills  
Cabinet 

24/10/2020

  
6 Introduce borough-wide selective 

licensing  
Cabinet 

24/10/2021

  
7 Strategy put in place to work more closely 

with estate agents/letting agents  
Cabinet 

24/10/2022

  
8 Set up a database of rogue 

landlords/estate agents  
Cabinet 

24/10/2023

20-Jul-16
Ethical lettings 
agency     

  
1 Assess other local authority agencies to 

judge viability of Brent's scheme  
Cabinet 

24/10/2016

  
2

Liaise with the deputy mayor of London 
over a pan-London scheme lettings 
scheme  

Cabinet 
24/10/2017



  
3

Collaborate with estate agents to promote 
Brent's vision for ethical lettings of 
properties  

Cabinet 
24/10/2018

  
4

Officers explore possibilities of a sub-
regional ethical lettings agency within the 
public sector on a not for profit basis  

Cabinet 
24/10/2019

20-Jul-16 Task Group Brent's 
housing associations     

  
1 Strategic forums with registered providers 

to examine Right to Buy  
Cabinet 

15/11/2016

  
2 Set out common position to registered 

providers on exemptions  
Cabinet 

15/11/2017

  
3

Develop agreements with housing 
associations and GLA to maximise 
replacements in Brent.  

Cabinet 
15/11/2018

  
4 Jointly an anti-fraud investigator for a 

time-limited period  
Cabinet 

15/11/2019

  
5 Integrate Right to Buy into Brent’s 

financial inclusion strategy  
Cabinet 

15/11/2020

  
6 Requests that housing associations 

advise tenants of their financial options  
Cabinet 

15/11/2021

  
7

Strategic forums to share information and 
expertise about properties going into the 
private rented sector  

Cabinet 
15/11/2022

  
8

Collaborate with other local authorities 
about provision of social housing in the 
future  

Cabinet 
15/11/2023

  
9 Forum for smaller housing associations 

set up  
Cabinet 

15/11/2024

  
10

Signpost residents to information about 
the Community Land Trust Network, 
custom-build and co-operatives  

Cabinet 
15/11/2025

  
11 Feasibility study for self-build on council-

owned land  
Cabinet 

15/11/2026



  
12

Weight available council-owned land 
towards housing association or 
partnership developments  

Cabinet 
15/11/2027

  
13

Work closely with social landlords in the 
borough to evaluate the effects of welfare 
reform  

Cabinet 
15/11/2028

  
14

Request that housing associations report 
regularly if they are considering 
implementing Pay to Stay  

Cabinet 
15/11/2029

  
15 Organises more frequent forums around 

specific issues  
Cabinet 

15/11/2030

  
16

Hold an annual housing summit  
Cabinet 

15/11/2031

  
17

Develops mechanisms that will enable 
housing association tenants to share their 
concerns and service priorities  

Cabinet 
15/11/2032

  
18 Contact registered provider to encourage 

tenants’ representation at the board level  
Cabinet 

15/11/2033

  
19

Develop a partnership model which is 
more weighted towards those providing in-
demand tenures and housing  

Cabinet 
15/11/2034

20-Sep-16 Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan     

  

1 An update be provided to the committee 
on the One Public Estate project

 

Cabinet 
Member 

Community 
Wellbeing. 
Cabinet 16 

January 2017

  

2
Efforts be made to engage with health 
scrutiny across north-west London about 
the STP.

 

Cabinet 
Member 

Community 
Wellbeing. 
Cabinet 16 

January 2017



  

3
Consideration be given to collaborating 
with Healthwatch groups about 
engagement.

 

Cabinet 
Member 

Community 
Wellbeing. 
Cabinet 16 

January 2017

  

4 Regular progress reports to be provided 
about the STP. The first in six months.

 

Cabinet 
Member 

Community 
Wellbeing. 
Cabinet 16 

January 2017

20-Sep-16
New Accommodation 
for Independent 
Living (NAIL) project

 
  

 

  

1 A review of NAIL be presented to 
committee in a year's time

 

Cabinet 
Member 

Community 
Wellbeing. 
Cabinet 16 

January 2017

  

2
Work to be undertaken to explore issues 
of affordability for those moving into the 
units.

 

Cabinet 
Member 

Community 
Wellbeing. 
Cabinet 16 

January 2017

19-Oct-16 Housing 
management options     

  
1 A scrutiny sub-committee established for 

housing if “in-house” option is chosen.  
Cabinet 

15/11/2016

  

2

If Cabinet was to agree on the joint 
venture option, there be appropriate 
checks and balances in place to ensure 
that this arrangement does not lead to 
stock transfer  

Cabinet 
15/11/2017



  

3

If in-house option agreed, there is 
complete transparency of the Housing 
Revenue Account, complete with a 
business plan  

Cabinet 
15/11/2018

  
4

Communications strategy is drawn up by 
the Council to ensure resident 
engagement.  

Cabinet 
15/11/2019

  

5

If Cabinet was to agree on the joint 
venture option, that any future 
arrangement or contract between the 
Council and its partner be considered by a 
Scrutiny committee  

Cabinet 
15/11/2020

23-Nov-16 NHS estates in Brent     

  

1 Brent CCG and Property Services develop 
a social value policy detailing how to 
maximise use of void space.  

Brent 
CCG/NHS 
Property 
Services

  

2 CCG details in commissioning intentions 
how it will use Estates Strategy to support 
voluntary sector  

Brent 
CCG/NHS 
Property 
Services

  
3

A report is submitted to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board on incorporating social 
value into the Estates Strategy.  

Brent CCG

  
4 Future reports detail at start how 

engagement activity will be undertaken.  
Brent CCG

  
5 The NHS Estates Strategy includes South 

Kilburn as a growth area  
Brent CCG

23-Nov-16 Brent LSCB Annual 
Report     

  
1

Letter to Commissioner of Metropolitan 
Police and Deputy Mayor for Policing 
expressing concern about engagement  

Scrutiny 
Committee 

chair

  
2

Letter to MPs about engagement by the 
London Community Rehabilitation 
Company  

Scrutiny 
committee chair



  

3 As part of the Budget setting process, the 
council consider how it can provide 
additional funding to the Brent LSCB  

Cabinet 
Member 

Children and 
Young People

  
4

 
Data request for comparative information 
about budgets of other LSCBs in London

Scrutiny Officer

23-Nov-16
Supporting 
Vulnerable 
Households     

  

1
The committee receive a report on the 
learning obtained from the mystery 
shopping exercise and corresponding 
service improvement.  

Cabinet 
Member 

Housing and 
Welfare Reform

  

2
The appropriate sub-committee of the 
Adult Safeguarding Board consider the 
lessons learned from the case from the 
Director of Community Wellbeing  

Strategic 
Director 

Community 
Wellbeing

01-Feb-17
Brent Safeguarding 
Adults Board annual 
report 2015/16     

  

1

Specific information about the Board's 
interface with the Local Safeguarding 
Children's Board and involvement with 
third sector organisations be included in 
the 2016/17 report  

Intendent Chair, 
BSAG

  

2

A report on participation by the 
Metropolitan Police and their attendance 
at relevant meetings be presented to the 
commmittee by the Brent Adult 
Safeguarding Board.  

Intendent Chair, 
BSAG



  

3

Brent Council’s Contracts with housing 
and social care providers be designed to 
encourage engagement with Brent 
Safeguarding Adults Board and 
attendance by the Contractors at the 
Board’s relevant meetings  

Cabinet 
Member 

Community 
Wellbeing




	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) -  Update on Specialist provision and the implementation of the SEND Reforms
	7 Annual School Standards and Achievement report 2015-2016
	8 Update on scrutiny work programme 2016-17
	Appendix B


